

Nova Southeastern University **NSUWorks**

Theses and Dissertations

Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice

2024

Instructional Leadership and Self-Efficacy: A Case Study About **Elementary School Principals**

Barbara J. Hall Nova Southeastern University

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd



Part of the Education Commons

Share Feedback About This Item

NSUWorks Citation

Barbara J. Hall. 2024. Instructional Leadership and Self-Efficacy: A Case Study About Elementary School Principals. Doctoral dissertation. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. (591) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd/591.

This Dissertation is brought to you by the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

Instructional Leadership and Self-Efficacy: A Case Study About Elementary School Principals

by Barbara J. Hall

An Applied Dissertation Submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Approval Page

This applied dissertation was submitted by Barbara J. Hall under the direction of the persons listed below. It was submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

Mary Clisbee, EdD Committee Chair

David Weintraub, EdD Committee Member

Kimberly Durham, PsyD Dean

Statement of Original Work

I declare the following:

I have read the Code of Student Conduct and Academic Responsibility as described in the *Student Handbook* of Nova Southeastern University. This applied dissertation represents my original work, except where I have acknowledged the ideas, words, or material of other authors.

Where another author's ideas have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's ideas by citing them in the required style.

Where another author's words have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's words by using appropriate quotation devices and citations in the required style.

I have obtained permission from the author or publisher—in accordance with the required guidelines—to include any copyrighted material (e.g., tables, figures, survey instruments, large portions of text) in this applied dissertation manuscript.

Barbara J. Hall	
Name	
March 19, 2024	
Date	

Abstract

Instructional Leadership and Self-Efficacy: A Case Study About Elementary School Principals. Barbara J. Hall, 2024: Applied Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. Keywords: principals, elementary schools, self-efficacy, instructional leadership, education

The aim of this applied dissertation was to develop a better understanding of how elementary principals in a large school district in the southeastern United States perceive their self- efficacy as instructional leaders and administrators. The pressures of high accountability play an impactful role in how principals view their roles and their ability to perform effectively.

This qualitative case study utilized interviews and Photovoice for data collection. Participants were six elementary school principals from the same southeastern school district. Participants were interviewed independently. A second, photo-elicited interview was conducted with each participant to discuss the significance of their photographs. A reflexive, thematic approach was used for data analysis. Nine significant themes were deduced from the data: (a) principals possess high-level skill sets and abilities, (b) principals have a high level of perceived self-efficacy, (c) prioritize time management to fulfill critical obligations, (d) leading with compassion and flexibility fosters trust and a sense of community, (e) connect with stakeholders to build collaborative relationships, (f) professional training programs greatly impact job performance, (g) professional relationships increase perceived levels of self- efficacy, (h) leadership experiences both increase and decrease perceived levels of self- efficacy, and (i) negative experiences can increase perceived self-efficacy levels

Study findings indicated an integral connection between self-efficacy and leadership performance and may provide valuable insight for the development of principal preparation curriculum and professional development. The researcher recommends further qualitative studies on this phenomenon using larger sample sizes.

Acknowledgments

I first give honor to God my Creator, my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ, and the precious Holy Spirit, my comforter and guide without whom this honor would not be possible. I dedicate this dissertation to my children who are my heart, who gave me the strength and courage to keep going because they believed in me. Thank you, Therell Wayne Hall, Jr., Amber Nadine Hall, and Audra Nicole Hall. When Therell was taken from us it left a crater in my heart, but I could still hear him saying, "You've got this mom, you're a soldier!" Amber and Audra, my beautiful duo, may this achievement serve to remind you that no matter how hard the path, it's never too late to make dreams come true. To my amazing grandsons, Therell, III, Micah, and Josiah, you come from greatness. Nothing at all is impossible when you believe. I give special honor to my loving mother, Marilyn Maria Williams Hypolite, my first teacher and the one who introduced me to the wonderful world of reading and learning. I honor you with this doctorate. You have been my greatest cheerleader through every phase of my life, and every endeavor. Your prayers and faith have carried me. To my siblings Debra, Brannigan, Ellen Peterson, Steven Williams, and Francine DeLande, I love you dearly. Thank you for always loving your baby sister. Francine you are ever standing beside me, the wind beneath my wings. A special thank you to my friend Theresa Tavernier for the research library trips and for being my eyes when mine weren't working well; to my cohort partner, now sister-friend, Dr. Tangela Allen, my "Rider" in the red jacket; Glen Collins, for your prayers and encouragement; my dear friends Dexterr and Christine Beneby (Chris you saw what I could not); to my friends, Rolando and Mulrose Toulon, I'm sure Mulrose is smiling down on me today. To God be all the glory—Covenant-Keeping God!

Table of Contents

	Page
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	1
The Research Problem	3
Definition of Terms	9
Purpose of the Study	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	12
Deficiencies in the Literature	
Historical Perspective	
Theoretical Framework: Self-Efficacy	
Self-Efficacy and Personal Motivation	
Development of Self-Efficacy	
Self-Efficacy and Performance	
The School Principal	
Leading During Turbulent Times	
Principals and Self-Efficacy	
Methodology Used in Previous Studies	
Summary	
Research Questions	
Chapter 3: Methodology	52
Aim of the Study	
Study Design and Rationale	
Case Study Approach	
Participants	
Data Collection Procedures.	
Data Collection Procedures.	
Data Analysis	
Ethical Considerations	
Trustworthiness	
Potential Research Bias.	
1 otenuar research Bras	/ ¬
Chapter 4: Findings	76
Review of the Research Questions	76
Presentation of the Findings	77
Summary of Findings: Research Question 1	77
Summary of Findings: Research Question 2	
Summary of Findings: Research Question 3	
Summary of Findings Research Question 4	
Concluding Summary of Findings	
Chapter 5: Discussion	98
Introduction	

Findings and Interpretation	98
Implications of the Findings	
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	124
Appendices	
A Table of Specifications	142
B Interview Protocol for Principals	148
C Photovoice Protocol for Principals	152
D Introductory E-Mail and Informed Consent	
E Photovoice Data Analysis Charts	
Tables	
1 Participant Demographics	57
2 Themes	

Chapter 1: Introduction

The measurement of student achievement is necessary and justifiable as is the accountability of administrators and teachers. However, the rating of educator performance based on student standardized test scores has come under increasing scrutiny by individuals and organizations that support educators and public education (Basileo & Toth, 2019; Wieczorek et al., 2019). The implementation of educator evaluation systems substantially linked to student test scores has been the subject of significant debate at national, state, and district levels (Smith & Kubacka, 2017; U.S. Department of Education, 2012; White House, 2014).

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB, 2002) opened a national debate on the state of U.S. public education. This debate spawned public demands for greater accountability of educators in the public educational system. The result was an unprecedented flood of educational policies aimed at reconstructing the nation's public education system. Consequently, the issue of how to improve student performance became a topic of fervent discussion. Another area that came under intense scrutiny was how to make teachers and principals more accountable for student learning and how to evaluate their effectiveness in promoting student achievement. Federal lawmakers wrangled over legislation that would govern the way states measured student and educator performance (Wieczorek et al., 2019). The resulting consensus was that principals are directly responsible for teacher performance and student learning (Denecker, 2019; Donaldson et al., 2021; Reid, 2020).

Statement of the Problem

The problem is that as the role of school principal has continued to change and

evolve, principals have been inundated with additional job responsibilities and accountability. Principals are directly responsible for performance evaluations of all teachers under their supervision, leading in the acquisition, interpretation, and management of student data, and providing instructional leadership to optimize the professional development and performance of their teachers. Additionally, the tragic mass shooting at a South Florida high school in 2018 added the weighty responsibility of safety director for all school principals within that district. The COVID-19 pandemic presented yet another dimension of administrative responsibility as principals were forced to pivot the entire instructional delivery system to a virtual platform then implement and manage health safety protocols once schools reopened (Azukas, 2021; Curry & Wolf, 2017; Evie, 2018; Superville, 2018). In conjunction with these leadership requirements, principals are also expected to effectively manage their school budget, maintain a positive and productive school climate, and ensure that daily operations run optimally within their school building (Carbaugh & Marzano, 2018; Denecker, 2019).

Wilcher (2014) intimated that although principals tend to be in favor of the current evaluation systems, many feel overwhelmed by the many roles they must play to satisfy the requirements specified by newly reformed performance expectations. Despite their favorable views about the reformed evaluation systems, principals also feel tremendous pressured to motivate teachers and students and do not have enough time—and in some cases, adequate experience, knowledge, or resources to do their job as effectively as they think they could under less demanding circumstances (Bell-Erwanger, 2019; Stanford, 2023).

Phenomenon of Interest

The focus of this qualitative study was to investigate the perceived self-efficacy of select principals as instructional leaders within the context of a test-based performance evaluation system in the largest school district in the southeastern United States. The researcher endeavored to understand how principals have adjusted their leadership beliefs, style, and focus to align their performance with the requirements specified in the five original domains of the Marzano Principal Evaluation Model: (a) use of data to drive instruction, (b) continuous improvement of instruction, (c) a guaranteed and viable curriculum, (d) opportunities for cooperative collaboration, and (e) school climate (Carbaugh et al., 2014). In 2018, the model was renamed the Marzano Focused School Leader Evaluation Model and updated to include six domains: (a) data-driven instruction, (b) instructional leadership with a viable curriculum, (c) continuous professional development for teachers and staff, (d) a community of care and collaboration, (e) core values, and (f) resource management (Carbaugh & Marzano, 2018; Marzano Center, 2019).

The Research Problem

The pressure from federal and state legislators to increase teacher and student performance has been keenly felt by principals within the largest school district in the southeastern United States since 2013. Despite critics of high stakes standardized tests, and contrary to research evidence that supports the rationale for balance and validity in principal evaluations, the competition for Race to the Top federal funding by states like Florida seemed to remain the driving force behind the policies that govern requirements for educational leadership performance (Basileo & Toth, 2019; Marzano, 2012; U.S.

Department of Education, 2012).

Although Florida educational stakeholders have celebrated successes in efforts to increase teacher and student performance, many principals were left scrambling to make the adjustment from a more administrative leadership style to that of instructional manager and coach. Consideration must be given to the challenges and needs of principals as they continue to stretch and flex to perform the stressful and time-consuming duties as data analysts, teacher evaluators, and curriculum leaders. A better understanding of how school principals perceive their efficacy as instructional leaders is necessary for the creation and improvement of professional development and mentorship programs that are relevant and effective for this critical sector of the public education system (Corcoran et al., 2013; Bell-Erwanger, 2019; Westberry & Horner, 2022).

Marzano (2013), the designer of the Marzano Focused School Leader Evaluation Model (Carbaugh & Marzano, 2018; Marzano Center, 2019) used to rate principal performance in Florida school districts, suggested that there are many ways to monitor and measure student achievement. He also emphasized that the most effective performance evaluation systems include continuous opportunities for professional development and strong support such as mentorship programs (Marzano, 2012).

Background and Justification

In 1983, the National Commission on Excellence in Education published *A*Nation at Risk, a comprehensive report on the state of American public education.

Former President Ronald Reagan assembled the task force to conduct a thorough assessment of the nation's schools. The task force returned with an unsettling report.

Commission members declared the American school system to be in an unprecedented

state of disrepair. The report included statistics such as a 17% illiteracy rate of graduating seniors, a 72% increase in remedial mathematics courses being offered by colleges, and a consistent decline in the critical thinking skills and aptitude for science among American students (National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983). The commission pointed to a substandard curriculum, incompetent teachers, mismanagement of time, and a spirit of mediocrity as some of the chief causes for the prevailing issues in public schools (Jones & Egley, 2009). The historical commission called for unprecedented measures that would improve teacher education programs, invigorate academic offerings, and add structure to learning environments. According to Henniger (2004), the resulting report, A Nation at Risk served as a catalyst for education reform in two major areas, teacher education and student accountability. Through the heightened focus on student achievement, expectations increased for student performance on standardized tests. Teacher education programs were required to be more meticulous and uncompromising in their certification requirements for teachers (National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983).

When NCLB was signed into law in 2002, it heralded the beginning of yet another level of federal involvement in the restructuring of the country's public education system. The goal of NCLB (2002) was to help ensure a rigorous and equitable education for all students from kindergarten through high school. The law was also designed to encourage higher standards of educator performance and accountability, which would ultimately lead to increased student performance nationwide. Although the legislation of NCLB included a mandate for states to test students annually and submit the desegregated data to Washington, the law allowed state policymakers to decide which

standards they would measure using an assessment of their choice. The initiative sparked debate over state versus federal jurisdiction of educational policy. National, state, and district policymakers intensified their analyses of public education curriculum and delivery. How to measure student performance, and exactly what to measure, and when, became a topic of intense discussion (U.S. Department of Education, 2002).

NCLB (2002) required all states to articulate yearly benchmark goals. Schools in each district were required to show sufficient yearly improvement, known as Adequate Yearly Progress, towards meeting their prescribed benchmarks. Schools receiving Title I funds (to provide for their high percentage of economically disadvantaged students) were penalized if students failed to show sufficient yearly progress. Such schools were subjected to participation in a 4-year improvement plan that would culminate in the achievement of the specified goals or the reconstitution of the school (U.S. Department of Education, 2002). Critics of NCLB argued that the law interfered with the right of state governments to act independently on behalf of their constituents. They regarded the requirements as excessive control and interference by the federal government. However, one major benefit of NCLB was that for the first time, a reliable system was in place for measuring and analyzing the annual academic progress of students in every state of the United states(Kim, 2021; Stanford, 2023; U.S. Department of Education, 2012; White House, 2014).

President Obama launched the Educate to Innovate initiative in 2009. The vision was enacted to place national educational focus on improving instruction and student performance in the areas of science, technology, engineering, and math. The White House (2014) wanted to address the low performance of American students (compared to

their global peers) in the STEM areas (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics). At that time, Obama also challenged the nation to identify and develop 100,000 outstanding educators in those subject areas (White House, 2014).

In 2010, President Obama announced the inception of Race to the Top, a federal initiative designed to promote radical public education reform. States were required to complete applications for their share of \$4.35 billion in federal money earmarked for education as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. Each state was required to submit an application that included a proposal for statewide education reform to qualify for federal money. The White House claimed that facilitating competition between states and raising standards for student performance and expectations for educators would help resolve the problem of educational inequity among minorities and promote excellence in public education (Mendoza & Ramathan, 2022; Wieczorek et al., 2020). States responded to the President's call for rigorous educational reform by complying with the demand for higher educator accountability, more rigorous student testing, and the implementation of teacher and principal evaluation models based on student performance on state-mandated standardized tests. A concern with evaluation models that use student test scores to rate educator performance was that they pressure principals to encourage teaching to the test (Peterson et al., 2022).

Traditional evaluation systems examined the effectiveness of principals based on their leadership skills and personality traits as they managed the operation of the school building and supervised faculty and staff in the performance of their duties. Reformed evaluation systems require today's principals to evaluate teacher performance and understand how to collect, interpret, and manage student data in addition to the

effectively meeting the demands of instructional leadership and overseeing the daily operations of the school site (Donaldson et al., 2021; Lochmiller & Mancinelli, 2019).

In many instances, today's principals do not feel fully qualified to effectively fulfill nontraditional roles such as data managers and teacher evaluators (Acton. 2021; Postma & Babo, 2019; Stanford, 2023). The primary researcher of this study has served as an elementary teacher in the Florida public school system for 32 years and taught in the Broward School district for 16 years under three different administrations. During the initial implementation stages of the new evaluation model, the researcher's principal was evidently uncomfortable and unfamiliar with her new role as teacher evaluator and with the use of the complex online observation rating system. Consequently, the first administration to use the system was conservative in awarding positive marks to teachers and used the system to penalize teachers instead of assisting them with their inadequacies. In contrast, subsequent principals held pre-evaluation conferences with teachers to thoroughly explain the domains of the evaluation model, the areas that would be observed, and suggestions for how to prepare for formal observations. Questions from teachers were welcomed and encouraged, and teachers received assistance with planning for instruction if they needed it. Many teachers felt more comfortable about being observed because they understood how they would be evaluated and why. The district cannot fail to provide the tools and support that produce knowledgeable and efficient instructional leaders and then penalize schools for low performance. District leaders must understand what principals need and how they feel about their capabilities to adequately address those needs and provide support that will generate competency, confidence, and ultimately success for the schools' principals lead (Basileo & Toth, 2019; Pariente, &

Tubin, 2021).

Audience

The school district in which the research was conducted as well as other districts in the United States can benefit from the results of this study. A deeper understanding of the principal experience (challenges, needs, and perceptions about instructional leadership) could provide valuable information for creating and improving principal preparation programs, professional development, and support systems for professionals already in administrative positions. Educational policymakers at state and national levels could consider the study findings in the creation and improvement of educational policies that affect principals and other educational leaders. Finally, principals and educators who are aspiring to leadership positions can learn from the experiences of others through reflection and self-examination. This kind of reflection and awareness can motivate and inspire other educators and leaders to try to better understand their own strengths and limitations and embark on a course of action to acquire the skills and improved selfconfidence that will translate into effective leadership and ultimately improved teacher and student performance (Gümüş, & Bellibaş, 2020; Kim, 2020; Murphy, 2021; Pariente & Tubin, 2021).

Definition of Terms

The following terms are defined in the manner that they relate to the research study.

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB) was a federal mandate that became law in early 2002. The aim of the law was to help guarantee equity in education across all states and districts as well as increased rigor in educational curriculum from kindergarten

to high school. The law required states to create uniform goals or standards for every academic subject and choose an evaluation instrument to assess student mastery of the standards annually. The law also required states to submit the desegregated test data to the federal government (NCLB, 2002; U.S. Department of Education, 2002).

Marzano model is the principal evaluation system used by the district in which this study will be conducted. The evaluation model was designed by education researcher Robert J. Marzano and based on an exhaustive review of the research literature about principal evaluation. In 2018, the model was renamed the Marzano Focused School Leader Evaluation Model and updated to include six domains: (a) data-driven instruction, (b) instructional leadership with a viable curriculum, (c) continuous professional development for teachers and staff, (d) a community of care and collaboration, (e) core values, and (f) resource management (Carbaugh & Marzano, 2018; Marzano Center, 2019).

Photovoice refers to a type of qualitative methodology involving participantgenerated photographs (Byrne et al., 2016).

A *Principal* is the chief executive officer in a kindergarten through Grade 12 educational institution is the principal. For this study, principal will denote the person in authority at the school site for an elementary, middle, or high school within the public education system.

Self-efficacy was defined by Bandura (1977) as a person's belief in his or her ability to perform a specific task or job. In the educational arena and this study, self-efficacy speaks to a principal's belief in his or her ability to create and implement a set of actions that will catalyze specific, desired outcomes (Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2007).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the perceived self-efficacy of select principals in their role as educational leaders. The objective was to better understand how principals have adapted and redefined their leadership style and focus to align with the expectations of the state performance evaluation system, and the successes and challenges they have experienced while doing so. The study participants were six elementary school principals from a large school district in the southeastern United States. The research site was the district where the researcher was employed as a teacher for 16 years.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Since Bandura's introduction of the ideology in 1977, the concept of self-efficacy has been the subject of a vast number of scientific studies. Involving people's view of themselves and their capabilities, self-efficacy is an integral part of strong leadership. In this increasingly demanding era of education reform and accountability, school administrators face unprecedented challenges for which they must be prepared (Acton, 2021). However, having the necessary leadership skills and awareness of their responsibilities is not all that is needed to make principals efficient. Today's principals should also perceive themselves as capable of growing, learning, and adapting to successfully deal with the rigors of their office (McBrayer et al., 2018). Current literature revealed a direct link between perceived self-efficacy and performance as well as principals' beliefs and attitudes regarding their role as instructional leaders (Justus et al., 2023). The literature examined in this study also suggested more information is needed about self-efficacy and the role of principals from the perspective of those who serve in that capacity.

The purpose of this literature review was to elucidate the weight of the role of instructional leadership in education reform and how previous studies explored self-efficacy of principals as instructional leaders within such a context. The review also included literature about self-efficacy and its function in professional work performance. The researcher's objective was to examine literature that explored self-efficacy in the formation, evolution, and adaptation of the beliefs, attitudes, and leadership styles of principals to provide a historical context for the study problem, illustration of the theoretical framework in which the study was rooted, a synthesis of the existing literature

on the subject, and a discussion of how additional research should extend previous research.

Much of the literature alluded to the importance of self-efficacy in job performance and leadership roles such as school administration. An issue of great concern was the limited amount of training and preparation afforded principals for the multiple, complex roles assigned to them. For example, principals must evaluate and analyze teacher performance and student data. Both responsibilities require a certain level of expertise and self-confidence. Another concern was not having sufficient time to complete required leadership tasks efficiently (Shaked, 2022; Wang et al., 2023). As the effectiveness of a principal is heavily based on teacher performance and student test scores, the pressure to produce high results in both areas is significant. The ethical issue here is whether principals under such duress will perform teacher evaluations and handle student data with fidelity (Lochmiller & Mancinelli, 2019).

Deficiencies in the Literature

The literature review garnered educational system was plagued several quantitative studies on self-efficacy and principals that provided mostly statistical data. Out of almost 40 studies on principal self-efficacy reviewed by the writer, more than half were focused on high school principals and were designed using quantitative methodologies (Stanford, 2023). There was not an abundance of qualitative studies on the subject. Of those reviewed, some were mixed method studies whose primary focus was high school principals or a mixture of administrative levels (Versland & Erickson, 2017). Additional qualitative research (on all levels) is needed to give principals a voice in an arena where their voices have been so prevalent (Rice & Williams, 2022). The target

objective for this study was to create awareness among district superintendents and state and district education policymakers of the unique and critical needs of elementary school principals from the perspective of those who currently serve in that capacity.

Historical Perspective

In 1995, Florida began administration of the Florida Comprehensive Assessment Test to students in Grades 3–10 to measure whether students were mastering benchmark skills outlined within the Sunshine State Standards. In 1999 under the leadership of Governor Jeb Bush, the Florida Comprehensive Assessment Test was tied to school scores (Jones & Egley, 2009). Each public school's grade ranged from A to F, depending on the percentage of students passing the exams, as well as the percentage of the whole student body and the lowest 25% of the school demonstrating adequate growth in comparison to their performance the year before. According to Sandy Kess, one of the officials assigned to craft NCLB by former President George Bush, Florida's school grading system was recognized in Washington, D.C. and had at least an indirect impact on the creation of federal policy regarding school accountability (Jones & Egley, 2009).

Despite its commendation for holding teachers to high accountability standards, Florida's public education system was plagued with issues. In their landmark study, Thornton and Arbogast (2014) explored general concerns about Florida's public education system in a quantitative study. They examined variables they deemed impactful upon the quality of schools and student achievement in Florida's 67 counties. The study sample included data from 804 observations conducted over 12 years. After analyzing each county's school grade as well as demographic and socioeconomic factors, the study results indicated that many factors influencing the quality of Florida schools could not be

changed through educational policy because these influences included variables such as economic factors, county size, and revenue. However, administrators and policymakers could collaborate to identify and implement programs to address critical issues Like employment for high school dropouts and strategies for increasing the relatively low number of students entering colleges.

Principal Evaluations

As teachers were being held to higher performance standards, the spotlight also focused on the educational leaders responsible for hiring teachers and supervising and monitoring instructional practices. In their review of federal policy for principal evaluations across the United States, Donaldson et al. (2021) pointed out that historically, principal evaluation systems focused more intensely on personality and leadership style and lacked relativity to student performance. In his study of principal evaluation systems across 40 states, Goldring (as cited by Donaldson et al., 2021) established that the evaluation systems were largely used to measure a principal's efforts to establish school goals, create professional learning communities, plan rigorous professional development for teachers and holding teachers and staff accountable for student achievement. The focus was not on the creation of robust curriculum programs or monitoring student progress. The study revealed that many of the principals were uncertain about the true purpose of the principal evaluation systems and did not feel it had any significant influence on their performance or motivation. The national reformation trend was to adapt and incorporate policies that would make teachers and principals fully responsible for student learning and student performance. Critics of the use of standardized test scores for educator evaluations defended principals against unfair variables such

economic factors and unreliable scoring systems. They argued that the role of school administrators would only become more complicated and demanding due to pressure from political, community, and school organizations (Basileo & Toth, 2019). Data from an online survey by EdWeek Research Center (as cited by Libby, 2023) revealed that of the 870 school administrators, instructors, and district leaders polled, only 25% asserted that standardized tests provide valuable data for the school's use and despite the heavy pressure they feel to ensure students do well on standardized tests, principals do not feel they are truly beneficial to student learning.

Florida instituted Robert Marzano's model for teacher and administrator performance evaluation (Marzano Center, 2019). The model rates teachers and administrators on levels of effectiveness based on student performance on state standardized tests. When students performed poorly on such tests, teachers and administrators received poor ratings on their performance evaluation (U.S. Department of Education, 2012). The Marzano evaluation model for principals addresses six performance areas called domains. In addition to meeting the performance criteria for each domain, principals are rated based on student performance on the state standardized test, the Florida Standards Assessments. If student scores fall below expectations (based on previous years and student demographics), a principal can receive a rating of "ineffective." The goal of the evaluation system is to motivate educators to push student performance. High student achievement and the demonstration of student learning gains through Adequate Yearly Progress are necessary to receive a rating of "effective" or "highly effective" (Marzano Center, 2019).

Critics of evaluation systems that link educator performance to student scores

argued that this practice was unfair and counterproductive. They further contended that today's administrative evaluations rely on criteria and agendas that are outdated (Basileo & Tuft, 2019). Additionally, many districts fail to provide the support and educational opportunities principals need to meet evaluation criteria. These deficiencies have been exposed in research like Bingham's (2014) mixed-method study that included an extensive literature review and surveys of 127 principals and superintendents. Among the first of its kind, the research provided insight into the impact and deficiencies of the evaluation methodologies being used. For example, only 3 of the 10 participating school districts had utilized professional development components with action plans and leadership development opportunities in their evaluation systems. Those three districts also encouraged collaboration among educators through professional learning communities. However, none of the districts had offered mentorship opportunities. Kim (2021) asserted that standardized tests are a problem, and after a review of various studies across the nation, concluded that the tests themselves can neither measure nor validate teacher competence. Not only do the tests vary from state to state, but there is no way to know or measure a teacher's instructional methodology or the culture if the classroom. Regarding student performance, there are many factors about the student that a standardized test cannot take into consideration, such as their physical and emotional state at the time of the test. Additionally, the tests are designed to measure student competency on certain academic subjects while ignoring other subjects like art and physical education. Consequently, the results of standardized tests only provide a limited performance indication rather than a picture of overall growth for the academic year (Kim, 2021).

Professional Development

When considering the evaluation of educators based on student performance, professional development for educators must be factored into the equation. To be effective, all teacher and principal evaluation models must include components for measuring performance as well as strong, consistent educator support and opportunities for mentorship and professional development. Considering the intense scrutiny under which today's principals must function, a fair and comprehensive system for their evaluation is essential, and such a system should be the foundation for supportive and continuous development of instructional leadership skills (Basileo & Toth, 2019).

According to the 2018–2019 edition of the *Broward County Public Schools*Professional Learning System (Gohl & Leon, 2018), the goals of the district leadership programs include strengthening existing leadership by enhancing leadership abilities through personal and professional learning experiences and identifying leadership talent to develop new leaders. The district utilizes a pipeline model to facilitate the progression of leaders from the development phase to the induction phase while keeping a pace aligned to the needs of the cohort. Programs are based on contemporary research and aligned to the rigorous Florida Principal Leadership Standards (Florida Department of Education, 2019a). These leadership programs also contain competencies related to the duties of principals. Successful principals share their insights and strategies for best practices. One of the programs provided is a 1st-year principal support program designed to support and coach principals during their first year of administration. During this year, participants expanded their study of the Marzano framework and evaluation model to further develop their skills as effective evaluators. Support groups convene monthly to

provide an informal forum for discussing challenges, information, and any concerns the new principals might have (Broward County Public Schools, n.d.; Gohl & Leon, 2018).

Theoretical Framework: Self-Efficacy

This qualitative study was designed to explore the perceived self-efficacy of elementary school principals within a large school district in the southeastern region of the United States and to better understand the influences upon their sense of efficacy within the context of their role. The idea of self-efficacy is a fundamental aspect of Bandura's (1977) social cognitive theory, which established social experience, observational learning, and reciprocal determinism as key components for personality development, or one's sense of self. Bandura's self-efficacy theory established the concept that all forms of psychological processes influence the level and intensity of selfefficacy. Bandura (1977) postulated, "Expectations of personal efficacy determine whether coping behavior will be initiated, how much effort will be expended, and how long it will be sustained in the face of obstacles and aversive experiences" (p. 193). An individual's sense of self is a combination of personal attitudes, abilities, and cognitive skills. Additionally, as thoughts regarding consequences affect behavior choices, personal beliefs about possible reinforcements can have more of an impact on behavior than the actual reinforcement (Bandura, 1977).

Bandura (1995) explained that self-efficacy is "the belief in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required to manage prospective situations" (p. 2). This idea places self-efficacy at the core of the self-system. Self-efficacy beliefs affect cognitive processes in different ways. For example, as most human behaviors are governed by premeditation that includes goals important to the individual, setting

personal goals involves self-assessing one's capabilities for achieving projected goals. Those with greater perceived self-efficacy set more challenging goals and are more committed to realizing them. Efficacy influences the learning, motivation, and performance of humans. This understanding is critical because individuals are almost always likely to pursue learning goals and performance tasks, they believe they can complete with success. However, efficacy beliefs reach well beyond goal setting into all areas of thought that affect the way people behave. One substantive purpose of thought is to allow people to anticipate events that may impact their life and then determine how they will control those events. When considering a course of action, humans construct scenarios in their mind. Their level of belief in their ability helps to shape the kind of scenarios they create and practice mentally before they act. Individuals with stronger beliefs in their capabilities envision scenarios that show successful outcomes. These scenes of anticipated success serve as reinforcement and guidance for the actions they will take (Bandura, 1995). On the contrary, those who doubt their efficacy tend to envision themselves as failures. As they do not see themselves as capable, they exert energy agonizing over their inadequacies and are often unable to move forward because they are afraid of failing. A strong sense of efficacy is essential for maintaining focus on the task at hand amid pressure and in the aftermath of hindrances and previous failures (Bandura, 1995; Lunenburg, 2013).

Bandura (1995) and others (Clark, 2001; Pajares, 2009; Stone, 1994) identified two categories of attributes within the context of self-efficacy relative to social cognitive theory. These were referred to as constructive attributes and potentially detrimental attributes. Constructive attributes describe the positive and beneficial qualities afforded

those with high self-efficacy. Potentially detrimental attributes are those potentially negative or counterproductive qualities associated with self-efficacy.

Constructive Attributes of Self-Efficacy

The concept of self-efficacy is complex as it has many constructs. Pajares and Schunk (2001) elucidated that a high level of self-efficacy facilitates the ability to see challenging situations as opportunities for learning. The drive to succeed fuels one's efforts to realize goals and achieve mastery. Additionally, people with high self-efficacy persevere despite failures and obstacles to their success. Instead of giving up, they are motivated to find ways to acquire the necessary understanding and skills to overcome their challenges.

Bandura's (1995) research on self-efficacy confirmed that those with high self-efficacy have more complex and challenging aspirations and are more committed to taking whatever measures are necessary for achieving them. This includes determination and focus as well as self-equipping through educational efforts such as training and mentorship. Further work on the theory of self-efficacy by Pajares (2009) supported these findings and further revealed individuals achieve their goals, this sense of accomplishment increases their self-efficacy—creating a favorable impact on motivation, determination, and performance.

Potentially Detrimental Attributes of Self-Efficacy

Although self-efficacy is associated with high performance leadership, balance is also important. In some instances, exceptionally high self-efficacy can cause deterioration in performance. Lunenburg (2011) defined self-efficacy as a type of self-esteem that is linked to a specific task. As such, individuals with a high level of confidence regarding

job performance can become overconfident and thus prone to making mistakes. An overly confident person can create an unrealistic perception of his or her abilities. This illusionary sense of aptitude can lead to errors in judgment, refusal to collaborate with others or to accept constructive criticism, and unwillingness to own personal mistakes (Clark, 2001). Overconfidence also can neutralize effort and motivation. People who believe they can complete a task with minimal effort are not motivated to learn new skills to enhance their performance. Their high self-efficacy causes them to believe they have all that is needed to do the job well and serves as a great motivator to get the job done (Bandura, 1997).

Self-Efficacy and Personal Motivation

According to Bandura's (1982) self-efficacy theory, an individuals' motivation and performance are directly tied to their convictions about their capability to perform. In other words, what an individual believes about his or her own abilities governs motivation and the level of effort exerted in any given situation. In his explanation of the theory of self-efficacy, Bandura (1977) expounded on four sources of a personal determination of efficacy: "performance outcomes (performance accomplishments), vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and physiological feedback (emotional arousal)" (p. 193).

Performance Outcomes

Bandura (1977) delineated efficacy outcomes as a "mechanism of operation" (p. 193). Efficacy expectations influence behavior choices, which then influence outcome expectations. Outcome expectations are what an individual concludes will happen because of a specific behavior. Efficacy expectations speak to the idea that a person can

adequately perform the behavior necessary to achieve the outcomes. Efficacy and outcome expectations are distinguishable in that a person can understand and believe that a specific set of actions will lead to a certain outcome but lack confidence in his or her ability to complete the necessary actions. In such cases, having the outcome expectations does not affect behavior.

Successes and failures of the past have the greatest impact on self-efficacy. One is more likely to feel confident about completing a task if one has experienced success in the same or a similar circumstance. Successful performance contributes to higher self-efficacy. A person with greater self-efficacy is more apt to attempt challenging tasks and engage in more complex activities with better results than someone with low self-efficacy due to experienced failures (Bandura, 1977). Bandura (1977) explained,

Mastery experiences are the most influential source of efficacy information because they provide the most authentic evidence of whether one can muster whatever it takes to succeed. Success builds a robust belief in one's personal efficacy. Failures undermine it, especially if failures occur before a sense of efficacy is firmly established. (p. 196)

Vicarious Experiences

In addition to personally experienced competency, a person's efficacy expectations are shaped by the experiences of others. Bandura (1977) referred to judging one's potential for success by observing another person's success or failure within that context as a vicarious experience. Witnessing another person's successful navigation of a stressful or unpleasant situation can foster expectations within the observer of experiencing the same degree of success by expending the effort and persistence to do so.

Such vicarious expectations are especially true if the observer has a similar personality or skills as the person observed. In the same manner, observing someone's failure can weaken the observer's belief in his or her ability to perform with success. Vicarious experience is dependent on inferences based on social comparison and therefore is not as reliable as personal experience in providing information about ability.

Verbal Persuasion

Another factor that can influence ones' sense of efficacy is verbal persuasion. is According to Bandura (1977), the use of verbal persuasion to influence the behavior of people is a common phenomenon. Verbal persuasion has been used effectively to convince people that they can overcome obstacles that might have prevented them from achieving success before. However, efficacy expectations generated in this way are not as strong as those induced from personal achievement because they lack the experiential authenticity that is foundational to strong self-efficacy. However, merely telling individuals what to expect has little effect on their behaviors. Lick et al. (as cited in Bandura, 1977) conducted clinical studies utilizing suggestive methodology to raise expectations and had minimal success in influencing the adverse behavior of participants. The researchers did not determine whether low credibility of verbal suggestions or weakness in expectations was to blame for the inability to significantly raise expectations in the participants through verbal persuasion. Bandura (1977) suggested that in situations such as treatment programs, explaining to individuals that they may or may not benefit from their participation does not guarantee that the individuals will believe what was said to them. The possibility that individuals will not believe increases significantly when what they are told contradicts what they have experienced. In many instances the

objective of verbal persuasion is to increase outcomes rather than raise self-efficacy. In isolation, verbal persuasion lacks the power to produce an enduring sense of self-efficacy. However, when people are convinced that they are capable of conquering challenges and are provided tools and support for doing so, they are more likely to succeed.

Physiological Feedback

Physiological feedback, yet another key variable relating to self-efficacy, is a description of the physical (and emotionally related) sensations experienced before, during, and after a stressful or challenging situation (Bandura, 1977). Bandura (1977) characterized emotions such as fear, anxiety, and turmoil as "feedback" or "emotional arousal" (p. 198) that accompanies stressful situations like public speaking or chairing a board meeting. Bandura (1977) also asserted that in many cases, emotional arousal could provide information about an individual's aptitude, making emotional arousal an essential agent for data acquisition regarding perceived self-efficacy during intimidating situations.

Extremely high levels of emotional arousal can extinguish or severely reduce self-efficacy. The most typical response to anxiety and fear arousals caused by threatening situations is avoidance behavior. However, according to Bandura (1977), these behaviors are typically a result of authentic fear stemming from deficiencies in skill sets. The fear and deficits are usually interconnected issues. The avoidance of uncomfortable obligations hinders the development of coping competencies, and the lack of competency creates fear. Bandura (1997, 1999) also proposed that learning methods for controlling menacing situations can extinguish fear arousal. Anxiety response to intimidation can be addressed effectively through modeling and completely eradicated by experienced success or mastery. Although physiological feedback is regarded as the least persuasive

of the four self-efficacy evaluators, it is quite relevant. When individuals feel comfortable with a performance obligation, they are more motivated and experience a more elevated belief of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977; Justus et al., 2023). To truly understand how people achieve and maintain a high sense of efficacy, it is of significance to comprehend how self-efficacy originates and develops.

Development of Self-Efficacy

The development of self-efficacy starts in childhood when children interact with their environment through a broad range of experiences. The acquisition of self-efficacy and its evolution span a lifetime. Self-efficacy grows as people acquire knowledge, learn new skills, and process experiences that deepen their understanding. Bandura (1982) identified four primary sources of self-efficacy: (a) mastery experiences, (b) social modeling, (c) social persuasion, and (d) psychological responses.

Mastery experiences are the most influential sources of efficacy. According to Bandura (1982), when an assignment is completed successfully, the sense of accomplishment promotes self-efficacy. In the same way, failure to carry out a duty or adequately deal with a challenge can diminish or erode self-efficacy. Social modeling is also an important factor in developing efficacy. People are continuously observing the behavior of others. When an observer sees someone with comparable traits successfully complete a task, the observer is likely to conclude that he or she is also capable of completing similar tasks with the same level of success.

Bandura (1982) further asserted that it is possible to convince a person of his or her ability to be successful. This persuasion can come in the form of encouragement and affirmation. Verbal encouragement such as the purposeful encouragement and coaching

provided in mentorship situations can promote the self-confidence needed to surpass emotions like fear and self-doubt that impede one's ability to focus and persevere until success is realized (Bandura, 1982). According to Manderlink and Harackiewicz (1984), rewards also influence self-efficacy. Rewards may be tangible, such as a bonus in pay or a written commendation, or verbal, such as praise for a job well done or public affirmation. Both types of rewards can affect self-efficacy in a positive or negative way according to the context of the situation in which they are given,

Bandura (1982) established a strong connection between efficacy and how people perceive and react to stressful situations and challenges. Physically, emotions and reactions to intense challenges can range from moderate to severe. For example, when faced with an unpleasant task related to leadership responsibility, one may experience physical discomfort such as an upset stomach or feelings of anxiety. A person with high self-efficacy would be more likely to regard the situation as a necessary part of his or her responsibility. From that perspective, the person would seek out the resources needed to fulfill the responsibility. On the contrary, an individual who perceives the challenge solely as a threat will most likely resort to avoidance behaviors while agonizing over what to do until he or she has no choice but to address the challenge. The avoidance stems from the feeling of lacking the ability to handle the situation adequately (Bandura, 1997).

Self-Efficacy and Performance

Researchers have drawn direct correlations between self-efficacy and personal performance. Barling and Beattie (1983) defined self-efficacy as a personal judgment about one's ability to complete specific tasks. For this reason, a person's sense of efficacy

has a direct correlation with the way they perform. Self-efficacy related to specific tasks raises the level of effort and determination exerted for tasks that are difficult. This increased effort and determination raise the chances of successfully completing such tasks. Redmond (2010) explained that self-efficacy is measured according to three scales:

- Self-efficacy magnitude rates the level of difficulty a person thinks are needed.
 - to complete a given task (easy, moderate, or hard).
- 2. Self-efficacy strength measures how much confidence a person feels about his or her capability to successfully complete work.
- 3. The generality of self-efficacy has to do with the extent to which the individual applies expectation to the spectrum of circumstances, or the consideration of whether previously attained knowledge will suffice for handling new situations.

Early (as cited in Bandura, 1988) reported that employees trained in production techniques and provided with specified performance goals have greater beliefs in their performance capabilities. This increased self-efficacy promotes employee commitment to company goals and increased performance and productivity. In their model studies on organizational productivity as related to management perceived self-efficacy, Wood et al. (1990) assigned management duties to Master of Business Administration graduates and tasked them with matching employees to tasks, creating and implementing company rules, and motivating employees. Study findings confirmed a correlation between perceived self-efficacy and personal goals and the organizations' performance.

Additionally, challenging goals in a complex organization such as a school, can

negatively impact employee efficacy and performance. Wood et al. deduced that the way managers and people in leadership positions handle decision-making in different situations can be better understood by evaluating how cognitive and motivational processes interact.

The School Principal

To understand the importance of self-efficacy as it relates to educational leadership, one must understand the context of school leadership and what it means to be a school principal. Since 2000, the image of the school principal has been transformed through the perceptions and demands of federal and state institutions as well as public debate and scrutiny. Principals were formerly seen as teacher supervisors and school disciplinarians. Their performance was rated by how the community regarded them and how the brightest students performed. The job security of today's principal is contingent on far more complicated and rigorous performance expectations. Their duties now include serving as instructional leader to their staff, managing and promoting student performance, maintaining public relations, and satisfying government policy. Their role as instructional leader encompasses a plethora of nonnegotiable performance expectations they must meet or risk losing their administrative position (Memela & Ramrathan, 2022).

In this era of unprecedented demand for performance accountability in educational delivery and practice, the roles and responsibilities of school principals have changed dramatically. Traditionally, principals served primarily as the manager of daily affairs in their assigned school. Their responsibilities included oversight of the school's day-to-day operations, planning and scheduling, budget concerns such as materials and

teacher salaries, school climate, and student safety (Schrik & Wasonga, 2019).

Today's principals handle approximately 40 tasks per day in their daily role as manger and instructional leader. These jobs require a knowledgeable and versatile individual equipped with a variety of complex skills. Managerial skills are essential for dealing with issues and individuals directly affected by the principal's decisions. These issues include financial obligations, school data, the staff work environment, and teacher performance.

The principal's role as administrator also encompasses the formation and maintenance of connections with stakeholders and the implementation and maintenance of state and district mandates that they must often fund (Murphy, 2021). School administrators must also be proficient in financial management and budgeting because they are responsible for handling the school's annual budget. As a financial manager, principals are required to oversee the allocation and disbursement of all funds awarded to their building in adherence to stringent federal, state, and district guidelines. They are responsible for the funding of every component of the school's function—from custodial needs like cleaning supplies, student materials such as textbooks, and facility needs such as telephone and electrical services, to the funding of professional development activities for teachers. The principal's duty also is to maintain a balanced budget by monitoring expenditures, cutting costs wherever possible, and securing fundraising opportunities to acquire additional funding for the school (Denecker, 2019).

In addition to their operational duties, the principal sets the tone for student behavior and achievement. A critical factor in school success is an environment that is safe as well as conducive to learning. The principal's influence is also a key factor in how

the school is perceived by education officials and the community. Apart from their work within the school, principals manage all external affairs. In this capacity, the principal's role becomes that of advocate, promoting positive public relations and acquiring additional resources for the school through venues such as community partnerships while promoting awareness and a positive public image of the school (Thomas-EL et al., 2020).

The School Leader

The most scrutinized aspect of principalship in these times is instructional leadership. Evolving research continues to confirm how the instructional leadership practices of principals directly and indirectly influence student learning and school performance. Principal practices encompass specific administrative skill sets, knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. Comparative findings across research have established that certain practices link to student performance and schools that excel. These practices include coaching and mentoring, sharing a robust vision and mission, engaging in indepth collaboration with teachers regarding student performance and instructional quality, effectively managing school resources (including human capital), and maintaining an environment conducive to the development and well-being of all organizational members. Additionally, successful administrators exhibit soundly ethical and professional conduct (Acton, 2021; New Leaders, 2019; Thomas-EL et al., 2020).

The instructional leader's primary role is to help identify and articulate the school's instructional goals and develop a plan for the individual and collaborative work necessary to achieve the targeted outcomes. Setting up systems for teacher collaboration and learning through ongoing professional development synchronized with the school's goals is one of the most important tasks for instructional leadership. Schools must refocus

on learning as opposed to being fixated on teaching if they are to impact student achievement. School districts that promote individual learning by infusing fresh concepts and innovative practices are more likely to garner the support and ready participation of teachers and principals (Kim, 2021; Lunenburg, 2013). The Florida Department of Education has instituted a highly specific set of academic standards for students from kindergarten to 12th grade. As part of the accountability system promoted on both state and federal levels, principals are required to instruct teachers in how to practice standards, plan and instruct for mastery, monitor student progress, remediate struggling students, use intervention strategies for at-risk learners, and enrich exceptional students (Florida Department of Education, 2019a, 2019b; U.S. Department of Education, 2012). To fulfill these and other obligations, principals must assume many identities under the title of instructional leader. Their obligations are far reaching as they endeavor to educate and guide teachers in every aspect of instructional practice and delivery, but school success is especially dependent on the critical roles of performance evaluator of instructional practice, instructional leader in special education, and data manager (Kim, 2020; White et al., 2021).

Teacher Coach and Performance Evaluator

Education reform has brought about a system that evaluates teachers based on student performance. This same system evaluates principals based on teacher and student performance. Apart from classroom teachers, principals exert the most influence on academic achievement. State-mandated assessments have created unprecedented pressure to drive students to meet academic standards for proficiency. Goddard et al. (2021), and Reid (2020) argued that the quality of instruction evident in a school is an indication of

the principal's level of commitment to the use of research-proven methods of instruction.

The quality of instruction demonstrated by teachers is a direct reflection of principal practices and leadership skills. Principals are not only expected to eliminate the problem teachers, but also to recognize quality teaching.

The principal's most important job may be coaching and mentoring teachers. Coaching is an invaluable tool in the continuous professional training of teachers because it is an investment in the overall professional world of educators and schools. Through coaching, teachers benefit from direct, individualized help in addressing specified areas of need. The principal helps teachers identify areas of focus, helps develop a plan for addressing the need, and provides the guidance and support needed to carry out the plan to an expected outcome. In this position, principals should see themselves as a "lead coach" facilitating the engagement of teachers in a learning process that recognizes their needs as adult learners. From this perspective, they can assist teachers in reflecting on their instructional practice and finding ways to improve it (Mendoza et al., 2022).

Along with coaching, principals must observe and evaluate teacher performance. To perform this task with fidelity and competency, principals must be proficient in their understanding of quality instructional practice, academic standards, and scales, and how the evaluation system works. Very few evaluation systems provide a true measure of teacher quality, and most can be used in a punitive fashion, depending on the perspective of the observer (Marzano, 2012; Mendoza et al., 2022). In Florida, teacher evaluations are currently the responsibility of principals and assistant principals. However, formal annual evaluations that weigh most heavily in teacher performance scores are the sole responsibility of the principal. When a principal lacks the necessary skills, understanding,

or confidence to proficiently apply evaluation protocols, the resulting errors negatively impact evaluation outcomes. In his study of 12 elementary school principals in schools served students in Grades K through 8, Reid (2020) surmised that the work experiences of principals play a large part in determining how they interpret teacher evaluation systems. Each of the 12 principals were observed and interviewed in the evaluation process of at least one teacher and participants were interviewed three times within a oneyear period. Reid concluded that three major factors determined how the principals made sense of new teacher evaluation policies and systems: (a) their years of experience as a classroom teacher, (b) their tenure as a principal, and (c) their number of years served as principal at their current school. Reid (2020) further concluded that these experiences all influence the way principals interpret, analyze, and enact the policies and system they use to evaluate their teachers. For example, principals with more experience in the role tended to rely on their personal experiences to determine what constituted good teaching, or adequate performance. New principals or those with less experience were more apt to be less rigid in their expectations. Those who had less experience and or less time at their current school were also more empathetic as their focus was on establishing trust and building relationships. In other words, a principal's values, beliefs, and prior work experiences as well as current context all serve to influence how and why they interpret. and apply teacher evaluations protocols (Reid, 2020; Tuytens, & Devos, 2017).

Principals also have an ethical responsibility to use fairness and remain objective. despite personal biases when evaluating teachers. Principals are advised to keep the roles of coach and evaluator separate to prevent any negative perceptions from their

knowledge as coach from creating bias in their practice as evaluator (Shaked, 2022). Their role as teacher evaluator presents an ethical paradigm that adds to the weight of the office. Kim and Lowery (2021) illustrated a common struggle among school administrators, going strictly by metrical measures of the evaluation tool and district guidelines or judging a teacher by who they personally know them to be. Some districts in states like Michigan require principals to assign a rating of "highly effective" and "ineffective" to a predetermined percentage of teachers. This creates a personal ethical dilemma for principals since they are the ones to make the decision. It is often a discouraging and frustrating position to be in. On the one hand, they must adhere to the requests of their superiors and on the other, they must rate teachers who deserve "highly effective" as only "effective" to remain within the designated numbers. Likewise, teachers who are creative, loved by students, and whose students have shown growth, may receive a poor rating because not enough of their students excelled on standardized tests. This is especially difficult for principals who serve in areas where there are teacher shortages, and higher rates of teacher turnover as well as those who serve in schools with a disproportionate amount of economically deprived students. While they understand the need for accountability and effective teachers, principals expressed a desire for greater autonomy to help develop teachers who show promise and to rate staff in a more fair and realistic way. Principals understand that teachers are the most critical stakeholders in the educational process and as such their needs, and job satisfaction are as important as their accountability (Kim, 2020, Kim & Lowery, 2021 Thomas & Wieczorek, 2019). Another aspect of ethical responsibility for which principals are being held increasingly accountable in recent years is their exceptional student populations. These populations

include students with varying exceptionalities as well as gifted children Bell-Erwanger, 2019).

Instructional Leader in Special Education

Educational reform in America also focused on improving the quality of education being provided for special education students, a population that has often been overlooked. Before the inception of exceptional student education provisions under the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (1975), about 1 million children in the United States were being denied a public education because their exceptionalities required specialized approaches to instruction, and 4 million children with disabilities were deprived of the educational services they needed to be successful in school. In recent years, students with a variety of exceptionalities are educated mostly in the general education classrooms with regular education populations. 64% of students ages 6–21 spend about 80% of the academic day in general education classes (Department of Education, 2018). The provisions of NCLB (2002) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 placed direct demands on principal performance and accountability as educational leaders. NCLB required schools to demonstrate Adequate Yearly Progress of students as a prerequisite for receiving federal money. The qualification for federal funding is determined by student achievement in reading and math on annual standardized tests, including students with varying exceptionalities. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (2004) further required that students with disabilities receive individual instruction in the least restrictive social and academic environment possible. In keeping with this regulation, principals must help ensure that the Individualized Education Program (IEP) for all qualified exceptional

education students in their school is implemented and maintained (Bell-Erwanger, 2019; Florida Department of Education, 2019b).

Sun and Xin (2020) investigated the level of involvement and how principals performed in their instructional leadership methods relating to special education. Their goal was to gain understanding about how principals viewed their role as instructional leaders for special education teachers and students. The study included 134 principals from one state in the northeastern United States. Analysis of study responses were divided into 4 categories, leadership in special education, leadership knowledge, leadership support, and leadership decision-making. The study results showed participant' lacked knowledge about special education laws and the needs of ESE teachers and students.

An important revelation was how principals perceived their role as instructional leader to special education teachers. Some principals reported they did not view their role as instructional leader of special education teachers as requiring any distinction from the way they interacted with general education teachers. This information was significant because special education requires a different structure and approach than regular education classes to accommodate students on multiple performance levels. A mixture of instructional techniques is used to facilitate student learning, and a large amount of time and effort is exerted in planning and coordinating a host of support services. The study results constituted a compelling argument for more rigorous principal preparation; increased support and accountability for existing principals; and the inauguration of district measures to provide, encourage, and monitor professional development in special education policy and practice across states (Sun & Xin, 2020; White et al., 2021).

Sun and Xin's (2020) study of 85 principals regarding the skills and knowledge of principals regarding special education, the delivery of special education services, ongoing support for stakeholders and the acquisition of knowledge and resources yielded similar results to the previously examined studies. Every Student succeeds Act (ESSA, 2015) was designed to shift delivery of instruction for exceptional students from separated classrooms in restricted environments to placement among the general education classrooms that are the least restrictive with students of a similar age. As instructional leaders, principals are also responsible for meeting the needs of all students—including those with varying exceptionalities. The principals in this study were found to have insufficient knowledge about regulations pertaining to special education. Moreover, the majority had received their initial training (which included a limited amount of instruction specific to exceptional education) more than 10 years prior to this study. The authors of the study advocated that current knowledge and continuous professional learning for principals were exigent to effective leadership for exceptional education.

In addition to inadequate knowledge and skills about special education policy, needs, and program development, another barrier to the implementation of an integral special education program was lack of funding for special education services. Principals alluded to their district's rigid budget policies and insufficient funding for staffing, programs, and technology for special education needs within their schools. Likewise, because of the pressures for student performance, principals tended to focus more on funding and facilitating programs and technology needs of the general education population. The study's authors concluded that better-educated and supported administrators would result in the implementation of better special education programs

and leaders who could facilitate equitable learning with better teacher and student performance overall (Sun & Xin, 2020).

Zaretsky et al. (as cited by Sider et al., 2017) explained that one of the foremost goals of inclusion in education is "to increase authentic involvement and the potential for success of all students in school, particularly those students with special education needs who are often marginalized in schools" (Sider et al., 2017, p. 25). In a study of 15 principals across four schools, Siden et al. (2017) explored principal attitudes, daily challenges, and critical issues experienced in the implementation and support for a special education inclusion program within their school. The study findings revealed the principals perceived that an inclusive school culture was paramount to the success of any inclusion program. They also believed that the level of that success is determined by their direct influence and involvement in being visibly present and supporting teachers, staff members, students, and parents. Additionally, the participants iterated the critical role of critical experiences within the context of inclusion in the shaping of their attitudes and approaches to inclusion education.

Data Manager

Educational research has underscored the importance of using student data to drive instruction and remediation. Today's principals are responsible for helping teachers to interpret, manage, and apply student data in planning for instruction. Accountability legislation like Race to the Top and performance evaluation systems that link teacher effectiveness to student performance have thrust principals into high-pressure positions as teacher evaluators and data analysts. To perform these tasks with authenticity, principals must have a thorough understanding of the curriculum and state standards in each subject

area as well as the skills and confidence needed to teach and supervise the collection, analysis, application, and management of data. Leading an organization in gathering, storing, and distributing data and information is an enormous task for the leadership of any organization. The school principal must understand the importance of involving all staff members, delegating responsibilities, and communicating the shared vision if they hope to lead their organization to success (Bell-Ellwanger, 2019; Donaldson et al., 2021; Lavigne & Olsen, 2020).

While principals may be aware of the expectations for their role as data manager, they may not perceive themselves as capable of handling those requirements. In addition to having the expertise to manage the collection, analysis, application, and storage of data to create and maintain programs for improving their school, principals may be overwhelmed or intimidated by the prospect of maintaining a school community driven by data. Principals should afford their faculty continuous opportunities for developing and enhancing their understanding of interpreting and applying data to instructional practice with the principal as an exemplar model. The responsibility of leadership is to help stakeholders create and articulate the mission and vision of their organization. This job includes the identification of learning goals, plans for achieving them, and strategies for overcoming obstacles that may arise during the process (Bell-Ellwanger, 2019).

Technology has placed a large amount of data within reach of school districts today. Principals and teachers must be able to navigate an ocean of data to perform their daily duties. They must be adept at interpreting, analyzing, and applying information from diagnostic and norm-referenced assessments data, reading and mathematics assessment data, state and local interim assessment data, and data from remediation and

intervention programs. Despite this reality, many school leaders and personnel are deficient in the skills needed to analyze and apply data in a way to increase student performance and improve schools (Garry, 2021).

NCLB (2002) legislation stipulated data-informed decision-making as one of the recommendations and requirements for guiding instructional practice and supervision in all initiatives for improving America's schools. Likewise, district supervisors advocate that data can be an invaluable tool for carrying out federal education reform mandates and managing accountability networks. However, leaders must understand how to manage student data, which serve as the primary indicator of academic progress for students, teachers, principals, schools, districts, and states (Bell-Ellwanger, 2019; U.S. Department of Education, 2002, 2012). School districts use data for superficial purposes like meeting state accountability requirements as opposed to the more extensive work of exploring variables that increase or impede instructional and learning practices, even though such in-depth analyses could yield information that would deepen understanding of how and in what context certain variables affect learning. Professional development programs on the use of student test data abound, yet relatively few districts focus on the score patterns of individual students. Analyzing those trends, which are also referred to as student growth data, allows evaluators to make certain assumptions about schools, students, and educators (Clauser et al., 2016).

Since 2010, several growth data models have been adopted by many states as instruments for rating student achievement and school effectiveness. In recent years, growth models have been used as a standard for determining eligibility for incentive funding and grants. The Student Growth Performance (SGP) model is one of those

approved by education officials in 2010. The model is used to rank student growth by percentiles. The resulting patterns allow educators to make inferences about student progress and patterns in learning. The SGP model is now in use in 15 states and is also being examined for future use in assessing teacher proficiency (Clauser et al., 2016).

Clauser et al. (2016) surveyed 317 elementary and middle school principals regarding their use of the SGP to analyze student data. The researchers found 81% of school principals had used the SGP to gather information on school performance. Many of the principals also reported using the model to identify students in need of additional assistance and students who made outstanding learning gains. Principals also reported using the model for teacher evaluations since Massachusetts mandated the use of SGP as a component for measuring teacher effectiveness. Study results illuminated deficiencies in the principals' ability to analyze and interpret SGP data. Principals demonstrated no common vision or understanding for how to interpret and apply the data in decision-making processes. Whereas their willingness and efforts to use the model as a tool or finding solutions to improve their schools were commendable, principals urgently needed opportunities for developing the proficiency needed to correctly use the SGP (Clauser et al., 2016). At the time of the Clauser et al. study, no such program was available for Massachusetts principals.

Leading the organization in gathering, storing, and distributing data and information is an enormous task for leadership of any organization. Principals are tasked with involving all staff members, delegating responsibilities, and communicating the shared vision of the school, even during difficult times and amid extenuating situations (Bell-Ellwanger, 2019; Lochmiller & Mancinelli, 2019).

Leading During Turbulent Times

For educational leaders and teachers within the school district where this study was conducted, the last 5 years can be described as fraught with unprecedented challenges. In 2019, for the first time its history, this school district was faced with unprecedented trauma. A mass shooting at a local high school was carried out by a former student. Halfway through the following year while still reeling from the aftermath of the school massacre and the subsequent barrage of safety mandates, these educational leaders were tasked with navigating a national pandemic with the outbreak of COVID-19.

It has been established that even in the most general sense, the role of principals has become more complicated and demanding as they bear the responsibility for creating a school culture that supports diversity and the educational needs of all students and stakeholders while providing efficient instructional leadership (for which they are highly accountable) and overseeing budget, school security, and daily operations of the school. However, these additional crises have significantly raised expectations and accountability for educational leaders (Lochmiller & Mancinelli, 2019; Murphy, 2021; Thomas-EL & Van, 2020).

After the mass shooting in the BCPS district, the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School Safety Act was created in 2018. Through this act, the state Department of Education created the Safe Schools Division. Florida's public-school districts, all traditional public schools and public charter schools are governed by the safety compliance requirements delineated in Rule 6A-10018. F.A.C. of Florida state statutes. Of the eight compliance requirements articulated, four fall under the direct jurisdiction of the school principal.

- 1. A mobile security threat alarm system
- 2. A diligent threat management team
- 3. Safety incident data reporting
- 4. Regular emergency drills (Florida Department of Education, 2018)

The COVID-9 pandemic created challenges that were unanticipated by most public education facilities. The RAND Corporation's Spring 2020 national survey of K–12 teachers and principals along with data from school websites showed significant differences among schools concerning instructional plans for students, access to technology for learning, and teacher aptitude for distance learning content. Moreover, less than half of U.S. public schools had written protocols in place in the event of an extreme public health crisis such as a pandemic, and a mere 38 states had publicly accessible emergency health plans (Center on Reinventing Public Education, 2020; Hamilton et al., 2020).

The study also required principals to share their school's emergency preparation plans prior to the COVID-10 pandemic using the following five preparedness markers:

- 1. Providing devices (e.g., laptops, tablets) to at least those students who need them.
- 2. Training teachers on delivering online instruction.
- 3. Using a Learning Management System (LMS).
- 4. Providing fully online or blended learning courses establishing plans to deliver instruction during a prolonged school closure.
- 5. Establishing plans to deliver instruction during a prolonged school closure (Hamilton et al., 2020).

In addition, principals informed the study about whether teachers graded student work during the pandemic and predicted achievement outcomes for groups within their student populations for the subsequent fall semester (Diliberti et al., 2021).

The study produced evidence that although most surveyed principals had a minimum of one of the five preparedness measures in effect (84%). A very small number (7%) reported having all five. Elementary schools lagged behind secondary institutions in preparedness, and no correlations were found between school socioeconomic status and pandemic preparedness, or lack thereof. Research has affirmed that environmental factors do affect leadership performance and self-confidence (Diliberti et al., 2021).

Principals and Self-Efficacy

Preparedness for leadership in times of crisis is a critical part of the administrator's role, studies show that high level of self-efficacy as well as skills are necessary for success. Organizational psychologists applied the self-efficacy concept to professional leadership as professional self-efficacy, or belief in one's control over events and behaviors in professional life. According to Fisher (2014), the literature referred to two dimensions of this term: self-efficacy of the profession and self-efficacy of the professional. Self-efficacy of the profession pertains to the beliefs relating to a particular professional organization, meaning that the profession can impact individuals (Ford, 2014). For instance, instructors believe teaching can affect learners. Self-efficacy of the educator (professional) addresses the conviction a person can successfully perform the duties their profession requires of them (Gist & Mitchell, 1982; Skaalvik, 2020).

Hillman (1986) and Tschannen-Moran and Gareis (2007) were among the first to develop scales used to measure the self-efficacy of educators. The work of Tschannen-

Moran and Gareis (as cited in Fisher, 2014) resulted in the first validated instrument for the measurement of principals' perceived efficacy. The Principal Sense of Efficacy Scale measures efficacy for management, instructional, and moral leadership. In one of the few qualitative studies on principals and self-efficacy, Ford (2014) used the Principal Sense of Efficacy Scale in his research about the self-efficacy of Massachusetts principals. The scale measured participants' beliefs about their ability to succeed within domain-specific areas of educator leadership. Social cognitive theory dictates that a principal's self-reported belief in ability to succeed within a certain domain is an indication of probable success in that domain. Ford's application of the theory was that a principal who believes he or she will be proficient in a leadership task such as providing constructive feedback to teachers after observations is likely to do so.

Whereas studies have addressed the self-efficacy of principals as instructional leaders since the implementation of test-based evaluation systems (Postma & Babo, 2019), qualitative studies specific to this topic and relative to Florida or the Broward County Public Schools were almost nonexistent at the time of this study. As the largest school district in the state, and a federal award winner for its ongoing efforts to raise principal accountability and performance, the district is a trendsetter in education. Florida Principal Leadership Standards (FPLS) are the core standards, or expectations for effective principals in the state of Florida. The state specifies 10 standards to which administrators must align through professional development curriculum that aligns with each standard. Principals complete a matrix that requires them to name the course they took, and a description of the evaluative tool used to measure their mastery of that course. However, much of the literature pertaining to Florida schools and BCPS's educator

policies has focused on past achievements and future aspirations from the perspective of state and district leadership and not from the standpoint of principals (Florida Department of Education, 2019b; U.S. Department of Education, 2012).

Principals bear the burden of facilitating and managing educational opportunities for teachers and students. They are accountable for every aspect of their school's culture and day-to-day facility operations (New Leaders, 2019). Regardless of training or experience, all principals do not possess the same level of expertise. Some were hired after the inception of evaluation reform, and their initial training and subsequent growth have been within that context. However, principals now close to retirement were trained under a different and less complex system of expectations (Postma & Babo, 2019). Those individuals have had to change from a more managerial style of leadership to a multifaceted leadership style that included realignment to accommodate new roles like data supervisor and teacher evaluator and mentor (Bell-Erwanger, 2019; Memela & Ramathan, 2021; Murphy, 2021). For these reasons, it is important for educational legislators, district supervisors, and principal preparation and training developers to consider the influences on principals' self-efficacy and provide adequate training prior to installation of administrators as well as continuous education and support throughout their tenure (Acton, 2021; Justus et al., 2023; McBrayer et al., 2018).

Schrik and Wasonga (2019) investigated the connection between the perceived self-efficacy of principals and their perceived outcome expectations for student achievement. They ascribe to Bandura's theory (2000) that self-efficacy and outcome expectations are relative to each other because efficacy expectations have direct bearing on outcomes expectations since it is an individual's efficacy ideology that convinces

them to identify and pursue specific results. Their study results were consistent with the assertions of Pajares (1996) that "an individual's perception of the outcome and his value of the task necessary to achieve that outcome will regulate his behavior as powerfully as his self-efficacy beliefs, and independently of them" (p. 159). Schrik and Wasonga (2019) further argued that the self-efficacy of principals should be explored and addressed in tandem with perceived performance outcomes rather than in isolation as their perspective is important (especially when approaching the more challenging aspects of their job).

Methodology Used in Previous Studies

Most of the studies examined for this research on the self-efficacy beliefs of principals were grounded in social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1977) and used quantitative methodologies in data collection. A small number of studies utilized a mixed-method approach. The qualitative element was limited to interviews (Mahoney, 2017; Versland & Erickson, 2017). The researcher chose to use a qualitative approach for this study to realize the aim of the study, which was to better understand the perceived self-efficacy of elementary principals within the context of that role. The case study method utilizing participant interviews and Photovoice allowed them to convey their perceptions and details about their lived experiences in greater detail and with more autonomy than quantitative methods would have allowed (Creswell, 2012). This autonomy was important to the research because the phenomenon of study, self-efficacy is an innate characteristic that is perceived in a unique way from one individual to another based on his or her personal experiences. (Bandura, 1982.

Summary

In comparison to their predecessors, 21st-century school administrators face unparalleled challenges within the daily context of their leadership and managerial obligations. For the principals in this study these challenges were heightened by the need for additional accountability in certain leadership roles in the wake of tragedy and crisis. Studies examined in this literature review revealed that principals' practice and performance are highly reflective of their self-efficacy beliefs (Postma & Babo, 2019; Schrik & Wasonga, 2019). The research also revealed a lack of uniformity in the way principals are evaluated, a prevailing dearth of quality professional development opportunities and mentorship, and little reference to the promotion of efficacy among existing professional development programs (Superville, 2022).

Another trending issue experienced by school principals is the implementation and management of diversity-related programs. Principals must create a school culture that reflects acceptance. The school principal's awareness and understanding of differences among students and his or her attitude towards stereotypes and judgements have a direct correlation to the way they respond to such issues and how they find or create solutions for dealing with them. In the ever-increasing changes within our societal norms, principals must be prepared to create a climate of inclusion and equity and model the appropriate responses for students and staff. A foremost challenge to initiating diversity programs in schools is resistance. Administrators must have the efficacy to address teacher resistance as well as create positive links between diverse groups.

Diversity training could help to build self-confidence and self-efficacy among principal groups (Pollock & Briscoe, 2020; Viloria, 2019).

Furthermore, the researcher's examination of the literature delineated the greatest challenges for principals as time management issues and the tendency to believe they alone must do the job (Superville, 2018; Wang et al., 2023). Researchers also emphasized the relevance of self-efficacy to the performance of principals. Study findings implicated that since efficacy plays a crucial role in successful instructional leadership, greater efforts to understand how efficacy can be enhanced and programs for doing so should be more prevalent. The studies in this review consistently identified higher self-efficacy as an indicator of greater self-confidence, self-esteem, and highly effective leadership performance even in the face of challenges and adversity. Additionally, the literature exposed differences in how principals perceive themselves and how their definition of instructional leadership and its accompanying expectations has shaped their leadership style and focus. Study results clarified that style and even perspective were not nearly as influential on leadership success as the confidence, knowledge, and efficiency of principals (Acton, 2021; Houchens et al., 2017; Kim, 2020; McBrayer et al., 2018). Grissom et al. (2021) emphasized the importance of good school leadership, "A school's success is largely determined by the effectiveness of its principal—decades of research have made this clear" (p. 21). They adjudicated that after careful examination of the existing evidence, highly effective principals have these four major leadership traits in common, "Instructionally focused interactions, building a productive school climate, facilitating collaboration, and strategy management" (p. 23). Another crucial attribute of great educational leaders was their aptitude for maintaining an equity perspective in all areas of their work. It is the school principal (not the district that has the power to change negative perceptions and institute strategies for eliminating the persistent

achievement gap for populations of students who have been consistently discounted. Furthermore, great educational leaders are aware that human capital is an invaluable resource. They are intentional in building cohesive, trustworthy relationships with staff and other stakeholders. They illustrate a clear picture the shared vision of the school and raise leaders within the organization (Grissom et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2023).

Research Questions

This qualitative study was conducted to answer one overarching research question: What are the perceptions of elementary principals in a large southeastern school district about the demands of the position of school principal? The study was guided by four research subquestions:

- 1. How do elementary school principals in a large southeastern school district perceive their capabilities and level of self-efficacy for their position of school principal?
- 2. How have principals in a large southeastern school district adapted their leadership style to align with the performance requirements for their roles and responsibilities?
- 3. How do elementary principals in a large southeastern school district perceive the influence of professional training and professional relationships on their level of self-efficacy as a principal?
- 4. How have the lived experiences of these elementary principals contributed to their perceived level of self-efficacy?

Chapter 3: Methodology

Aim of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to understand and explain the selfperceptions and beliefs of elementary principals regarding their self-efficacy in their
professional role. At the time of this study, selected group of participants served as
elementary school principals in a large southeastern school district in the United States.

In this chapter, the primary researcher discusses the research design, participant selection,
and the instruments and procedures used for data collection. The researcher also
explained the data collection process and how the data was analyzed and reported.

Trustworthiness, ethical concerns, potential bias, and limitations of the study are also
addressed in this chapter.

Study Design and Rationale

The design for this research study has its foundation in social constructivism.

Social constructivist theory is rooted in the belief that individuals pursue an understanding of their world (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). "Individuals develop subjective meanings of their experiences— meanings directed toward certain objects or things" (Creswell & Creswell, 2017, p. 8). This variety of multiple meanings insinuates that the researcher must seek to uncover the intricacy of the views being examined instead of condensing them into limited groups of concepts. Crotty (1998) identified three major assumptions regarding constructivism:

- All human beings create meaning while interacting with the world they are endeavoring to understand.
- 2. The historical and social perspective shapes how people interact with and

make sense of the world. People are born into a world that is already defined by the culture.

3. The basis for the creation of meaning always involves social interaction.

These assumptions guide the methodology of qualitative research. Based on these assumptions, this researcher can facilitate the sharing of individual perspectives with open-ended interview questions and can endeavor to understand the contextual element by personally visiting the participant setting. Note that the researcher's personal experiences in the field of education for 32 years also will help to influence her interpretation of the findings (Crotty, 1998).

There is a dearth in the literature pertaining to the self-efficacy of elementary school principals, and the few related studies that were conducted utilized quantitative or mixed methods designs. Creswell and Creswell (2017) defined qualitative research as "an approach for exploring and understanding the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem" (p. 4). They further explained that the objective of qualitative design is to provide revelation and to explore a phenomenon beyond its superficial dimensions. This approach is distinct in its subjective approach and its focus on the unique interpretation of individual experiences (Creswell, 2012).

In contrast the purpose of quantitative research is to test a specific theory or hypothesis. To do so, the researcher engages large sample sizes for data collection, such as an organization, a large group within an organization (e.g. the sophomore class at a university, or the managers of all stores in a large grocery chain), or a community. The primary method of data collection are surveys that can be analyzed using statistics. The final report of the data analysis is conveyed in terms of numerical and statistical

information (Williams et al., 2021).

The primary researcher for this study sought to better understand the perceived self-efficacy of elementary principals regarding their leadership roles and responsibilities by studying their lived experiences within the context of their role, and to produce a narrative that would authentically articulate their stories. The nature of the qualitative approach was most effective for this endeavor. (Creswell, 2013).

Case Study Approach

Although there are many approaches to qualitative research, the five, predominant approaches—narrative, phenomenology, grounded theory, ethnography, and the case study method (Creswell, 2013). When the aim of the research is to explore the life of one or more persons, the narrative approach is used. With this method, the researcher studies the life of the person (or persons) and uses the data to create a story, or to retell the subject's story. This method draws from the humanities. anthropology. literature, psychology, sociology, and history. Phenomenology Is concerned with the essence of an experience shared by several people. This approach is well-suited for research that aims to describe a lived phenomenon (Creswell, 2013).

Drawing from the field of sociology, the focus of grounded theory is developed a theory that is grounded in data collected in the field. The researcher analyses a social process (behavior and interactions) among large groups such as a community. Ethnography is used when studying people within the same cultural group and is most suitable for research that endeavors to interpret and describe shared patterns of cultural norms within the group. This approach is most often used in anthropology and sociology (Creswell, 2013).

Finally, the case study method is employed when the research questions are designed to garner and analyze data using multiple methods that allows the researcher to create a discursive explanation of the phenomenon that was investigated. The case, or cases may consist of a person, event, community of organization in one case or multiple cases, and draws from the disciplines of psychology, law, practical science, and medicine. Although these five qualitative approaches use similar methods for collecting data, they differ in the processes used in data analysis and the way the data is reported (Creswell, 2013).

A case study approach was used for this study. The aim of this study was to provide an in-depth description of the experience of elementary principals within the same school district using data collected through a variety of interactions with subjects through personal interviews, direct observation, field notes, and Photovoice (Stake, 1995). Of the five major qualitative methods, the case study approach was best suited for this study. This approach allowed the researcher to explore the phenomenon within its context using a variety of approaches which permitted the researcher to see and understand the phenomenon from more than one angle. This helped to facilitate a deeper, broader understanding of the topic of study (Creswell, 2012; Yin, 2003).

Leedy and Ormrod (2019) defined case study as a research methodology used to better understand a phenomenon or situation for which there is a limited amount of knowledge. The case study methodology was fitting for conducting a detailed exploration of the phenomenon of self-efficacy, and inductively examining and interpreting the data to articulate meaningful information regarding the phenomenon.

According to Yin (2003, 2014), the case study approach is justifiable when one's

research will address either a descriptive question such as what transpired, or a question designed to address how or why something took place. For these reasons, the qualitative case study method was most ideal for facilitating the intent of this research study.

Participants

The primary researcher determined that at least six participants would be needed for this study. Participants were obtained through purposeful sampling, a sampling method in which prospects are intentionally selected by the researcher for the express purpose of ensuring that the research questions can be answered through study and observation of the group, and that sufficient information can be collected and analyzed to provide a clear picture of the phenomena being studied (Creswell, 2012). The researcher also took into consideration the gender, ethnicity, and school location (district region) as much as possible when selecting prospective participants to create a heterogeneous group of participants. This consideration was essential to the researcher's desire to ensure the integrity of the study (Creswell, 2013). As an employee of the school district in which the study was conducted, the researcher was familiar with district policies and had obtained the support of her supervisor in securing the research site and flexible accessibility to the site after school hours.

Initially, prospective participants were solicited through purposeful sampling via emails sent to a list of elementary schools selected from the school board website. Only two principals agreed to participate. Due to the poor response rate to the emailed invitations, the researcher used snowball sampling to acquire the additional participants that were needed for this case study. Principals who were referred by the first two participants contacted the researcher by email and, or her personal cell number to learn

more about the study. The researcher introduced herself and provided a thorough explanation about the nature and purpose of the study. All were provided the formal email invitation along with a consent form. Upon receipt of each signed consent form, the researcher requested an interview appointment. Prior to the pandemic, participants were given the choice of location for the interview to ensure they were in the setting where they felt most comfortable. After COVID, participants selected a date and time to meet via ZOOM for initial and subsequent interviews. All were emailed a copy of the interview protocols and encouraged to contact the researcher with any questions or concern they may have had prior to the interview. Table 1 notes demographics of the participants.

Table 1

Participant Demographics

Participants	Years as a Principal	Gender	Ethnicity
1	6	Male	African American
2	5	Female	Biracial
3	13	Female	Caucasian
4	5	Female	African American
5	13	Female	Afro- Caribbean
6	15	Female	African American

Data Collection Tools

The researcher used the following methods for data collection: (a) personal interviews, (b) field notes, and (c) Photovoice. A hallmark of case study methodology is direct interaction with the research participants (Stake, 1995). This is accomplished through interviews. The qualitative interview is designed to facilitate a conversation between a subject and the researcher for the purpose of investigating an identified

phenomenon (Yin, 2014).

Interview Protocol

Individual interviews that allow participants to respond to open-ended questions were conducted. The researcher developed an interview protocol directly related to the research questions. The protocol consisted of several questions to introduce the overarching concepts and to make interviewees feel at ease, and follow-up questions (probing questions) to allow responders to elaborate on previous responses. Both direct and indirect questioning were aimed at eliciting as much information as possible about the topic. A semi structured interview protocol allows a researcher to probe more deeply by adjusting the content of questions or asking for elaboration on given responses as needed. When necessary, the researcher rephrased a response as a question to solicit clarity or depth from the interviewee. The researcher used an iPad to audiotape each interview and took notes while conducting the interview for the sake of accuracy. During each interview, the researcher also noted inaudible responses such as participant demeanor, tone of voice and body language, as well as anything else of particular significance—whether verbal or nonverbal (Glesne, 2010; Stake, 1995)

Photovoice Protocols

In addition to interviewing, the researcher used Photovoice as a data collection strategy. Each participant was provided a disposable camera and instructed to take at least 12 photographs. They selected five photos that best expressed their experience as a principal along with accompanying written captions and a description for each photograph and what the photographs symbolized about their role as a principal.

Participants used a Photovoice protocol developed by the researcher to guide them

through the process. Photography as a methodology for qualitative research has been well documented since 2000. In their review of over 53 qualitative studies between 1995 and 2016, Byrne et al. (2016) illustrated the value of participatory photography as a data collection method. The central focus of participatory photography is to create favorable relationships between researchers and study subjects, affirm and validate participants, and facilitate the disclosure of otherwise inaccessible facets of the participants lives and experiences. One type of methodology involving participant-generated photographs is Photovoice (Byrne et al., 2016).

Photovoice has become a respected and authentic data collection tool in qualitative research. Photovoice was presented by researchers Wang and Burns (as cited in Ebrahimpour, Esmaeili, & Varaei, 2018) as a method for participatory research that focused on communities. The term *Photovoice* alludes to the purpose of the methodology, which is to allow participants the opportunity to share their lived experience through photographs. The goals with Photovoice are the following:

1) to enable people to record and reflect their community's strengths and concerns, 2) to promote critical dialogue and knowledge about important issues through large and small group discussion of photographs, and 3) to reach policymakers. The main nature of Photovoice is a way to empower individuals to identify individual and social health needs and make changes to improve society where people live. (Ebrahimpour et al., 2018, p. 216)

Because participants take photos to record facts and details about issues that are significant to their experience within the context of their world, qualitative researchers regard Photovoice as a data collection tool that facilitates a deeper understanding of

phenomena. The methodology is applicable to every type of qualitative research, from phenomenological studies to ethnography and grounded theory (Baker et al., 2017; Ebrahimpour et al., 2018; O'Hara & Higgins, 2019).

With Photovoice, the researcher selects specific issues to explore within a predetermined context and then chooses individuals who are related to those issues and live or work within that context to participate (voluntarily) in the study. The researcher explained the aim of the study, how to use the camera provided, as well as ethical considerations. After the photographs were taken, each image was reviewed and analyzed by the researcher and participant through an interview within each participant. Because of the way Photovoice empowers participants and contributes to collaboration and understanding between researcher and study subject, the researcher believed this methodology would provide a more profound understanding of the phenomenon being studied that otherwise might have remained undiscovered (Ebrahimpour et al., 2018; Young, 2017).

Another goal of qualitative research is to capture the unique voice of each individual and to try as much as possible to allow participants to share the fullness of their experiences (Glesne, 2010). The researcher believed that giving subjects the tools to creatively express themselves in a manner that went beyond responding to interview questions greatly reduced anxiety and inhibitions. Taking their own pictures let participants choose what they wanted to present as relevant and meaningful from within their world and thus creates a level of authenticity that might not have been elicited otherwise. Educators and researchers have used photography to gain a deeper understanding of others and to facilitate their engagement with the concepts. Photos

communicate meaning even in the absence of words in a way that is concrete as well as symbolic. Reflexive photography is a valid tool for collecting rich data relating to personal experiences (Overmars et al., 2018; Sidibe et al., 2018; Wahab et al., 2017; Wallace, 2015; Young, 2017).

Development of the Instruments

The researcher created interview questions in four categories: (a) Introduction and Preliminary Information, (b) Self-Efficacy Practices in the Role of Elementary Principal, (c) Influences of Professional Development and Training Programs on Self-Efficacy, and (d) How Lived Experiences Helped to Shape Efficacy Beliefs. The interview instrument was validated using a process of piloting and revising the research questions. Qualitative researchers can boost the reliability of interview protocols and the quality of the data derived from their use when the protocols are first refined through a structured vetting process (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Stake, 1995). The researcher assessed and refined the interview protocol by utilizing the interview refinement protocol for semi-structured interviews. This process included four phases: (a) making sure interview questions synced with the study's research questions, (b) organizing the interview protocol in a manner that facilitates inquiry-based dialogue, (c) arranging for peer review of the completed protocol, and (d) pilot testing the protocol (Castillo-Montoya, 2016).

After developing the interview questions, the researcher created a Table of Specifications (see Appendix A) to ensure that the interview questions adequately address the research questions and provide the type and amount of data needed to substantiate the validity of the study (Creswell, 2012; Yin, 2003). The table illustrates how each interview question corresponds to at least one of the research questions.

Additionally, the researcher solicited the scholarly opinion of a peer researcher and fellow cohort member who has completed the applied dissertation process through the Fischler School of Education. The researcher e-mailed a copy of the research questions and the table of specifications to the peer researcher through her Nova Southeastern University e-mail account. The researcher took into consideration the feedback provided as she finalized the interview protocol. A copy of the interview protocol can be found in Appendix B.

The researcher conducted a pilot test of the interview protocol by interviewing four elementary principals known to the researcher. The researcher is personally acquainted with each of the administrators and contacted them by telephone to solicit their participation in the pilot study. The researcher explained the nature and purpose of the study and invited the administrators to participate in the pilot test to assist in the analysis and refinement of the structure and content of the interview questions and the organization of the interview protocol (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Stake, 1995). Once these recruits verbally consented to being interviewed, the researcher established a date, time, and location for the interview. Pilot study participants were assured that the interview responses were for the sole purpose of testing the interview protocol and that their responses would remain confidential. After establishing the interview appointment, participants were provided an article explaining the concept of self-efficacy and a copy of the interview protocol via e-mail.

The researcher interviewed four principals for the pilot study. At the beginning of each pilot interview, the researcher reviewed the concept of self-efficacy and its connection to leadership and job performance then allowed time for questions and

answers. The researcher encouraged each participant to answer the interview questions with honesty and transparency and to ask for clarification or for interview questions to be explained or rephrased as needed.

The setting for the pilot study interviews was determined based on each participant's preference and needs. One interview was conducted at the home of the participant, one was conducted at the researcher's home, one was conducted at a local Starbucks, and another via telephone because that participant was in another state.

Interviews were scheduled for a 2-hour time frame. Two interviews lasted between 1.5 and 2 hours. Two of the interviews lasted longer than the 2 hours allotted because the participants' responses to some questions involved sharing details about their personal experiences that took longer than anticipated. Each interview was recorded using a small cassette recorder. The researcher used a new cassette for the recording of each interview. and took notes for additional documentation of the conversations. When the responses were \vague or too generic, the researcher asked questions to probe more deeply into the response. Upon the completion of each interview, the researcher asked for a date and time during the following week or 2 when the transcribed responses could be discussed to ensure they were given the respondent's intended meaning.

Only two of the four pilot study participants were asked to participate in data collection using Photovoice. These participants were given a copy of the Photovoice protocol developed by the researcher (See Appendix C), a 12-exposure Fujifilm 400 35 mm disposable camera, and a composition notebook for notetaking. The pilot study participants were asked to take pictures in their work setting that reflected their feelings and beliefs about their role and performance as a principal from Monday to Friday of one

week and to note the image number along with a description of the subject matter and any information they wanted to include about the image—including why they took it and what they were thinking and feeling at the time. (For example, Pilot Participant A wrote, "Exposure #3 – My cluttered desk. Taken on Wednesday and symbolizes the constant challenge of not having enough time to finish everything"). For ethical reasons, participants were cautioned not to take pictures of students or any human subjects to avoid any ethical violations. The researcher met with these participants to collect the cameras at a designated place at the end of the week. The cameras were taken to Dale's photo lab for the film to be developed.

The researcher examined the photographs taking care to keep each set of pictures separate to see what the images were, then examined them a second time in conjunction with the participant descriptions. The researcher then created preliminary categories for coding the images. The researcher met with each pilot participant to discuss the images, their descriptions, and their meaning. Participants were provided a copy of their photo notes (referred to as their "photo journal"). During the discussion, they provided detailed information about each photo and how it related to their leadership experience and practice. They were animated and seemed to be forthcoming about their experiences in a way that demonstrated more transparency than in the previous interviews. For example, Pilot Participant B, who had served as a principal for over 20 years, became emotional as he talked about his experiences and the personal sacrifices he had made over the years. His photo of the school entrance had underscored the weight of responsibilities that he had never acknowledged before.

The pilot study was an invaluable tool in the development of the interview

protocol and Photovoice procedure. By the second pilot test interview, the researcher was able to revise several of the interview questions for greater clarity, and to garner more indepth information from participants (based on the responses and questions of the first two participants). Conducting the pilot study afforded the researcher the opportunity to practice and refine interview techniques and modify them as needed. Piloting also allowed the researcher to experience the use of photography as a data collection tool for the first time. All documents and photographs from the pilot study have been stored securely in the writer's home office where they will remain until the completion of the entire research project (Creswell, 2012).

Data Collection Procedures

The school district's Institutional Review Board (IRB) required the researcher to list 25 elementary schools on the application to recruit prospective participants for my research. Upon approval from the school district's IRB, the researcher invited the principal from each of the 25 approved schools to participate in the study. Recruits received an electronic invitation via their district e-mail account that included a detailed description of the purpose of the study, the procedures for data collection, the study setting, and their rights and responsibilities as a participant. Two weeks after the initial invitations were sent, there were no responses from the recruits. The researcher sent a reminder email to each principal to reintroduce herself and to encourage them to review and consider the previously sent invitation. Two principals expressed interest and agreed to participate in the study. Since only two principals from this first round of invitations accepted the invitation, the primary researcher contacted the school district's IRB representative to request permission to recruit participants from a new list of schools that

participants The six participants for the final study were notified with a formal letter sent via e-mail (see Appendix D). Participants were asked to sign a consent form to further protect the rights and safety (Creswell, 2012). All e-mails were sent from the researcher's Nova Southeastern University e-mail account to each participant's employee e-mail address.

The first two interviews were face-to-face meetings at locations selected by each of the interviewees (meetings were held before or after school hours to avoid infringing on their administrative obligations). After these first two interviews, the research study was placed on hold by the school district due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The researcher received permission to continue the study and recruit participants for virtual interviews close to the end of the first semester of the following school year. After receiving the school district's IRB approval for the second time, the researcher sent invitations to 35 principals via their school email. There was very little response to these invitations. After waiting a period of two weeks, the researcher sent a second email to prospective candidates as a reintroduction, and to encourage them to consider participating in the study. Three principals responded to inform the researcher of their unavailability, and two asked for more information about the research. This information was promptly provided by replying to their email. Of the 35 principals that were invited in this second recruitment attempt, only one principal accepted the invitation, signed the consent form, and was interviewed by the researcher. because of referrals from the first three participants, the researcher was able to interview the final three participants over the course of the following school year.

Data Collection: Interviews

The first two interviews were conducted face-to-face while the remaining four interviews were carried out virtually via ZOOM in compliance with the "no contact" agreement with BCPS. The interviews lasted 1 to 2.5 hours. The researcher began each interview by introducing herself and asking the participant to share any personal information he or she wanted the researcher to know. The researcher then reviewed the meaning of *efficacy* and the concept of self-efficacy in general and as it relates to the study. The researcher answered questions and provided clarification about the concept of self-efficacy and how it relates to the subject personally and professionally. Finally, before proceeding with the interview questions, each interviewee was reminded of their rights and responsibilities as a study participant and reassured that his or her privacy and well-being would be preserved during the entire study process.

Data Collection: Photovoice

Participants were instructed to use their disposable camera to a take picture within the context of their job as a principal for a period of one instructional week (Monday through Friday). Photos taken could include places, objects, or events that did not depict students or adults (human subjects). Participants used the notebook provided as a journal (or a word document log) to record the exposure number and provide a brief description of each image that was captured, explaining what the photo depicted, represented, and their reason for capturing that image. Prior to COVID-19, the researcher personally collected each camera and the accompanying journal from the study participant at their school. Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the last four participants mailed their cameras to the researcher's home address via the USPS in the padded, postage-paid envelopes that

was provided along with their camera when it was mailed to their school. Every attempt was made to prevent loss or damage, and to preserve the integrity of the study.

After an initial review of their photographs, the researcher contacted each study participant via telephone or email (according to their preference) to schedule a time to meet and discuss the photographs. For this photo- elicited conversation, the researcher did not have a set of questions relating to specific topics to ask the interviewees. Instead, the participants' revelations about the images guided the discussion as participant and researcher reviewed and discussed the significance of the images one at a time. Each participant was asked to choose their five most meaningful images. These images, the accompanying descriptions, and interview notes formed the basis for the Photovoice data analysis for this study. These photo- elicited interviews provided an additional opportunity for the researcher to interact with participants to understand and give meaning to their experience with greater accuracy (Saldaña, 2016).

Data Analysis

The researcher used a reflexive thematic analysis approach to analyze both sets of data. This approach allows researchers more flexibility in interacting with and making sense of data across qualitative data sets to produce a descriptive narrative. The data analysis then, is a more subjective process and the resulting themes are reflective of the input of the data, study participants, the study context, and the researcher (Clarke et al., 2019).

The researcher completed the analysis of the interview data in five consecutive phases or cycles: (a) getting a first impression of the data, (b) coding the data, (c) expanding and collapsing codes to identify and understand patterns, (d) writing memos

while repeating the steps of the first two cycles, and (e) creating a description representative of the meaning derived from the data. Data analysis for qualitative research should be performed concurrently with the collection of data (Clarke et al., 2019).

The researcher transcribed the first two interviews using an online tool called "Happy Scribe." This online service allows users to upload digital audio files which are automatically transcribed. The researcher then edited and revised the resulting word file while listening to the uploaded audio for each document. Due to the substantial number of errors encountered while using this method, the researcher utilized the services of a professional transcriptionist for the transcription of the final four audiotaped interviews to ensure accuracy. Audio recordings were submitted digitally to the transcriptionist as each one was concluded (Bickman & Rog, 2008; Saldaña, 2016).

The transcriptionist sent the interview transcripts to the researcher by electronic mail as they were completed. As each completed transcripts was received from the transcriber, the researcher read it thoroughly while listening to the audiotape of the dialogue to ensure final accuracy of the content, then several times more to gain a sense of what the interviewees were saying in their responses. After editing each transcript to remove all identifying information, the researcher submitted the completed transcripts along with the research questions, study design, and methodology to a professional coding service through an accredited graduate research company (Grad Coach) for initial coding (The researcher has a visual disability which made coding all the transcripts manually without assistance impossible.) The transcripts were manually coded by trained experts. The result was a very detailed Excel document with the codes/coding structure

for the six transcripts. The transcripts yielded a list of 1,507 codes (words and phrases). The researcher carefully reviewed the list of codes to familiarize herself with the content and context from which they were derived. The researcher then used the excel feature to alphabetize the list of codes, then copied and pasted the alphabetized list onto a new Excel spreadsheet. The sheet was divided into three columns: Codes, Frequency of occurrence, and Correlating Research Question (Clarke et al., 2019; Creswell, 2013; Saldaña, 2016).

The researcher continued the coding process by creating groups of similar codes according to their meaning (what they represented) as well as their relationship to research questions. Insignificant codes were set aside, and the process was repeated—combining and condensing related codes within and across groups to the point of saturation. The researcher identified themes relative to each of the four research questions from the emerging patterns.

Photovoice Analysis Procedures

With Photovoice, participants were involved in two significant activities that.

provided the basis for analysis of the visual data., the researcher asked participants to contextualize each image by writing a description about the image and its relevance to their experience. Then, during the photo-elicited interviews participants elaborated on these descriptions and selected five images they felt would articulate their experiences the most significantly.

The researcher reviewed the photographs in tandem with the field notes and transcripts generated from the photo-elicited conversations to become as familiar as possible with the images and the meaning they conveyed for participants. To help

facilitate this part of the process, the researcher created a chart for each ser of photos and mounted them on a wall in her home. The researcher labeled each chart with a number assigned to the participant who took those photos. Then the researcher placed a handwritten label with the description the participant provided next to each image. The researcher looked for key words and phrases to see patterns among the photo descriptions. Similar words and phrases were circled with the same color marker across the charts (See Appendix E). After a thorough analysis of the captions, participant descriptions, and photo- elicited interview transcripts, the researcher created an Excel document listing the codes. generated from this data. The Photovoice codes were analyzed using the same reflexive thematic method as the first interview data. After putting aside codes that were not purposeful to the aim of the study, the researcher grouped similar words and phrases (chunks of meaning) to the point of saturation, allowing the research questions to guide the coding process. The researcher identified themes that articulated the experiences of the principals in their day-to-day experience as related to the research questions. (Clarke et al., 2019; Creswell, 2013; Saldaña, 2016).

Since the photos were reflective of each participant's unique experiences, the researcher did not write a conclusive narrative based on the findings. The researcher synthesized the findings of the interview data and the results of the photo-elicited interviews to create a descriptive report representative of the meanings derived and the essences identified within the participants' unique experiences. The objective of such a report was to articulate the study findings by explaining what answers to the research questions were revealed and what, if any new information (or unexpected phenomenon) was discovered (Creswell, 2013; Saldaña, 2016). The researcher e-mailed participants a

copy of the report to study participants (except for two participants who retired following the first COVID-19 school year), and white data collection was still in progress.

Participants were given the opportunity to provide their feedback on the report via a return e-mail, or meeting on ZOOM. When two participants did not respond after two reminders, the researcher contacted them on their office number to make the request. The researcher used the feedback provided by study participants to further review the findings. The general response from the three participants who provided their feedback was that the report was adequate in describing their experiences (Saldaña, 2016).

Additionally, the researcher sent a "Thank you" card and a \$10.00 Starbucks gift card to each member of the study.

_Each participant was provided a copy of the research report via school e-mail (Yin, 2014). All transcripts, notes, photographs, and other documents pertaining to this study are being kept in a locked file cabinet and on a password-protected laptop in the researcher's home office where they will remain for a period of 36 months following the study, after which all information and documents will be permanently destroyed by the researcher (Creswell, 2013).

Ethical Considerations

Creswell (2012) emphasized the importance of consideration for ethical issues in qualitative research. This case study research involved direct interaction between the researcher and study participants, and thus the researcher adhered to all IRB guidelines regarding the protection of human subjects during research. Each participant was informed about the study's purpose, goals, procedures, and how the study results would be reported and used. Participants signed a consent form and were assured that they could

elect to withdraw from the study at any point in the process if they chose to do so.

Participant identities were protected by using pseudonyms. Confidentiality of all data collected was maintained by keeping photographs and documents in a locked file cabinet in the researcher's home office where no other persons have access to them. Digital files have been kept on the researcher's password-protected laptop (Creswell, 2013).

Trustworthiness

Establishing trustworthiness is a critical aspect of securing the validity and plausibility of a research study (Glesne, 2010). In a qualitative study the researcher must consider these four areas: credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Yin, 2009). The researcher used a variety of strategies such as triangulation, prolonged engagement, and member checking to ensure the credibility of the research process and findings.

Triangulation of data is regarded as a foremost strategy to ensure trustworthiness in case study research. Triangulation involves the use of multiple types and sources of data (Creswell, 2012; Yin, 2014). The researcher used this strategy to help ensure the trustworthiness of the study by using multiple sources for data collection (interviews, field notes, Photovoice, and a photo- elicited interview). The researcher tested and revised the interview and Photovoice protocols before their actual implementation in the study through a pilot study.

The researcher demonstrated dependability through consistency in the application of the methodology with interview and Photovoice protocols and uniformity in the way all data were collected, interpreted, and stored. The study procedures were clearly outlined, and the research questions were stated as clear prepositions, and the data

collection process was managed in a consistent, methodical manner. This study design can be replicated for future study of this, or other similar phenomenon in education and other social fields. (Baxter & Jack, 2008).

The researcher established an audit trail to confirm the authenticity of the study results. Additionally, participants were asked to confirm the authenticity of the researcher's interpretation of the study data by providing feedback to the narrative created from the data analysis results (Creswell, 2013). The study findings from the interviews and Photovoice illustrated overlapping themes relative to the experiences of the participants within their roles as educational leaders and how these experiences were correlated to their perceived self- efficacy. These findings were highly reflective of the existing literature and can be indicative of the experiences of other educational leaders and those of leaders serving in similar, complex organizations.

Potential Research Bias

The researcher served as an elementary teacher for 34 years and has taught in the district where the study was conducted for 16 years. The researcher built close relationships with the eight principals she served under during her tenure as a teacher. Additionally, the researcher currently has more than six personal friends (and relatives) who are currently serving as principals in Florida and several others who are retired principals, or principals in other states. As a former elementary teacher and union steward, the researcher has firsthand experience with the drastic changes in the way teachers and principals are evaluated due to the implementation of the new evaluation system. It would have been unrealistic to disavow the inevitable biases and preconceptions that stem from these realities.

When a researcher is familiar with the subject of their study, or a part of the context of their research, he or she must be aware of the potential for interference from personal bias and have a plan to prevent such bias from interfering with the ability to maintain an objective focus throughout the research process (Yin, 2014). To approach the research with as little bias as possible, the researcher bracketed her perceptions and beliefs about the research topic by recording her thoughts and feelings in a journal. Throughout the data collection and analysis process, the researcher managed her bias through journaling, reflection, and consultation with peer researchers within her NSU cohort (Padgett, 2017; Saldaña, 2016).

Chapter 4: Findings

This chapter presents the findings from a qualitative case study that was designed to explore the perceived self-efficacy of elementary school principals within the context of their demanding leadership roles and to better understand their lived experiences and factors that influenced their perceived level of efficacy. The primary researcher used a reflexive thematic approach to analyze the data sets. This qualitative methodology permitted the researcher to develop a descriptive narrative of the meanings derived from the experiences of the study participants in response to the research questions that governed the study (Creswell, 2013). This chapter is divided into the following sections:

(a) review of the research questions and interview protocol, (b) presentation of the findings, (c) narrative summary of the findings for each research question, and (d) the concluding summary.

Review of the Research Questions

The study was anchored by the following research questions:

- 1. How do elementary school principals in a large southeastern school district perceive their capabilities and level of self-efficacy for their position of school principal?
- 2. How have principals in a large southeastern school district adapted their leadership style to align with the performance requirements for their roles and responsibilities?
- 3. How do elementary principals in a large southeastern school district perceive the influences of professional training and professional relationships on their level of self-efficacy as a principal?
 - 4. How have the lived experiences of these elementary principals contributed to

their perceived level of self-efficacy?

Presentation of the Findings

Data Analysis Results

Table 2 illustrates the themes that resulted from the interview and Photovoice data analysis as they relate to the research questions. The results for each research question will then follow, arranged by themes and the participants' quotes which drove the creation of those themes.

Table 2

Themes

Research Question	Themes
RQ1	 Principals must have high-level skill and abilities. Principals need high levels of perceived self- efficacy
RQ2	1. Prioritize time management to fulfill critical obligations
	2. Leading with compassion fosters trust and a sense of community 3. Connecting with stakeholders builds collaborative relationships
RQ3	 Professional training programs greatly impacted job performance Professional relationships increased perceived levels of self- efficacy
RQ4	 Leadership experiences both increase and decrease perceived levels of self- efficacy Negative experiences can increase perceived self-efficacy levels

Summary of Findings: Research Question 1

How do elementary school principals in a large southeastern school district perceive their capabilities and level of self-efficacy for their position of school principal?

Themes from the data for this question were, principals possess high-level skill sets and abilities, and principals have high levels of perceived self-efficacy for their job.

A common thread among study participants was the definite need for principals to have specific skill sets, and a high level of self-efficacy to successfully fulfill their role as a principal. For example, each participant described the importance of having good interpersonal skills such as the ability to work well with diverse groups of people, build strong community relationships, and a positive school climate. Participant 1 shared the belief that "... competent and effective leaders have the right interpersonal skills to manage people ... be able to deal with many different personalities." Building relationships and a climate of acceptance was also important to participants.

Culture must be what you believe in and build around from that and being able to get other stakeholders' input into that so that you build a relationship of a community within your school. Each person has their own personality, so no one really can train you for dealing with others (Participant 3).

Another important aspect of leadership that participants felt was a critical, high-level skill they had mastered was planning and preparing for carrying out the diverse duties of instructional leadership which involves analyzing student data, staff meetings., professional development, and performing teacher evaluations. Participants 3, 4, and 6 expressed the importance of knowing the subject matter their students are expected to learn. All participants mentioned the importance of understanding how to use the teacher evaluation tools effectively and in a fair manner because teacher pay, and retention is linked to their evaluation scores. These expressions were in response to a direct question about their perceived self- efficacy for evaluating teachers. Additionally, strong

communication skills and leading with compassion were described as invaluable assets by Participants 1, 2, 3 and 6. Each of them articulated a high degree of perceived self-efficacy for their performance in these highlighted competencies. The following participant statement further illustrated this.

I'm comfortable with the evaluation system ... in how I use it and the feedback that I give teachers. I'm also mindful that everybody can continue to grow and learn. I choose to not use the tool as an 'I got you!' ... in some places I think it is used that way (Participant 6).

Moreover, the participants spoke about the importance of planning deliberately while making contingencies for possible barriers due to the increased demands on administrators and instructional staff. They spoke about the need to approach expectations for teachers with consideration and positivity. Every participant expressed high levels of perceived efficacy for their role as an instructional leader.

It was interesting to see that with Photovoice, each participant captured an image that included their office desk. Each unique perspective for the image reflected some aspect of a distinct, self-perceived leadership quality. "... my dual monitors and my 'in' and 'out' trays ... I'm always multi-tasking." (Participant 1).

Two participants captured several framed photos on their desk of people and places they hold dear, a beloved dog, and their "happy place," the beach. Participant 3 captured the faculty meeting agenda on her desk that represented planning for impact, which she perceived as a high-level skill, "We don't have meetings often and you only have their attention for a short time." Participant 4 spoke about the old desk itself but homed in on her ability to look past the poor condition of her office furniture and focus

on the task of empowering her staff, which she attributed to her perceived high selfefficacy in her leadership abilities. "... I didn't get new furniture but that's ok. That
quote by Mandela on that wall above my desk reminds me of the power of education."

Participant 6 chose two different images of her office desk. One captured the telephone
and the other her laptop. "I live on my phone and laptop. Communication is important
and it takes a lot of time. I get a ton of emails from the district..." These images reflected
this participant's strong belief in her ability to find a way to manage the demands of the
job.

Summary of Findings: Research Question 2

How have principals in a large southeastern school district adapted their leadership style to align with the performance requirements for their roles and responsibilities? Three significant themes were revealed in the data: Prioritize time management to fulfill critical obligations, lead with compassion to foster trust and a sense of community, and connect with stakeholders to build collaborative relationships.

The study participants articulated the need for a diverse range of skills to perform effectively—from instructional leaders who bear the responsibility for teacher and student performance to operations manager, they must have the knowledge, organizational skills, and confidence to perform their duties in each of the roles they play, and to bring together diverse personalities to create teams that can work cooperatively to fulfill the school's mission.

Prioritize Time Management to Fulfill Critical Expectations

When asked to describe their greatest challenges as a principal, each participant included at least one reference to time constraints. In many instances it was not the task at

hand that presented an issue. It was finding the adequate time to complete the requirement while attending to many other duties. For example, the district maintains a calendar for schools that identifies specific time frames (and deadlines) for conducting teacher evaluations, and grade level benchmark testing, and safety drills. Principals must adhere to those time constraints of face reprimands from their area director. They must be able to plan in a way that accommodates their school calendar of student activities as well as faculty meetings, PLC meetings, and data chats. Participant 1 described it as being a juggler and "trying to keep all of the balls in the air." Participant 4 described the multitude of daily tasks as a weight, "There's enough managerial stuff that comes along with principalship that can bog you down daily."

Participants disclosed that completing time-sensitive tasks in tandem with daily duties is a never-ending challenge and becoming successful in their efforts meant making time management a top priority. They have each adopted a personal way of operating where they do what is most important and most pressing before anything else. Many of them keep extended hours. They begin their day by opening the school and are there well after school hours. They try to plan ahead and delegate what duties they can to their assistant principal and support staff team to free up time for impromptu classroom visits and other interaction with students and staff. For example, Participants 3 and 5 said they can be found in the car loop talking to parents any afternoon when there are no meetings or other situations that need their attention.

Leading With Compassion Fosters Trust and a Sense of Community

All study participants relayed their belief that the role of an elementary principal is weighty. In other words, the job requires a lot of effort and personal sacrifice. During

their initial interview, participants were asked to define two of their primary roles, school administrator and instructional leader. While most provided details distinguishing the functions of the two roles, Participant 1 explained that he simply viewed himself as the leader of his school. They similarly attributed the weight of instructional leadership to the pressure of school grades based on test performance and district and state mandates. However, participants were also quick also acknowledged that the same pressure also impacts their teachers and staff who must work hard to ensure that performance goals are met by students. Challenges such as limited resources, inadequate support, and the overwhelming task of sifting through large amounts of district- generated information and curriculum resources with so little time for all that is required also has adverse influences on them and their staff. Participant 6 provided this example of her and her staff's frustrating experience,

As soon as our school grade came up to a C, all the resources and people that were coming in and out from the district and the state and everybody that was supposedly there to support all our efforts got pulled away. I was left to figure out how to keep the ship sailing.

Despite the challenges, participants passionately asserted their determination to lead well and to facilitate positive outcomes. That has meant stepping out of their comfort zone for some, and for others educating themselves to be more knowledgeable about systems and processes as well as becoming an advocate for their employees. For all, it has meant leading with a greater sense of compassion. As Participant 4 said, "...in times like this, you give people grace." Participant 1 echoed the sentiment,

The buck stops here, so when somebody on my team has been abused or feels run down by a situation or a task, they know they can say, 'I've hit a brick wall. I don't know where to go, help me.' We talk it through, give suggestions, refocus, and send them on their way.

Sometimes participants had to choose between doing what the district demanded or what was best for their school. The following example from Participant 4 illustrated such an instance.

Sometimes the district may mandate things and I must decide whether it's the right program for my school, even though it's been rolled out to every school. I've become more comfortable with filtering what my school will and won't participate in and justifying it to my boss in terms of why it doesn't work for my school or why it won't work at this time for us.

Participants displayed a strong belief in advocacy for their teachers and students and a determination to be engaged in all aspects of the educational processes at their school. They expressed the belief that their compassion and consideration for teachers and staff and their visibility to students is what has helped to create a culture of trust and unity. Participant 2 said the following,

I can't let all the weight of what expectations placed on building principals stop me from getting into classrooms or seeing my students. I've got to be in the classrooms. I've got to see my students. So very rarely do I sit at this desk.

The following participant statements highlighted their convictions on the type of leadership style that makes them feel they are doing the job well.

I try to inspire, empower, and support. That's my leadership style essentially.

because I don't have all the answers and if I make a mistake, I learn from it too. In the confines of following the rules I ask myself, 'How can we be innovative, have fun, and be creative?' We still must do all the components of the work, but let's make it enjoyable (Participant 5).

Even while leading at a high- performing school, Participant 6 felt there was always room for improvement.

I walked into a rock star situation with phenomenal teachers. There were no grade deficits at this school. They just needed polishing, and they've risen to the occasion. That's my greatest accomplishment to date as a principal ... that makes me feel great.

Connecting With Stakeholders Builds Collaborative Relationships

Another theme that was identified for Research Question 2 was that connecting with stakeholders is an important part of building collaborative relationships among staff and between the schools and their communities. The subjects spoke of their efforts to build positive relationships with teachers and staff, students, parents, and the community in which they serve. They perceived that the strength of those relationships were effective predictors for the success of their school. Participant 6 expressed this belief, "All of my people are important to me. I treat everyone— the custodians, cafeteria workers, and teacher with the same level of respect."

Along with their words, the postures and gestures of the participants during the interviews appeared to convey their sincerity about their passion and dedication to their school and community. Some clasped their hands or leaned towards the researcher as they spoke about their relationships with various stakeholders. Principal 1 made direct

eye contact with the researcher and asserted, "What I want for my personal child is what I want for the 740 children in this building." This participant also shared some of their difficulties associated with low parental involvement, describing it as frustrating, and an on-going challenge. He described parental involvement as "a critical part of student success." Several other participants shared their commitment to finding ways to connect with parents and the community at large. Principal 6 professed, "I am the face of my school. I'm the advocate and public representative."

Regarding a partnership with a community organization that provides rehabilitation services for the community, Principal 5 avowed, "We're a school that supports our community, and our community supports our school." Participant 5 expounded on the need to connect with students,

I think my kids knowing me, and knowing I learned their names ... that's real important ... they need to know I know who they are. And I know most of their parents, I might not remember their parents' names, but I can say, you're Johnny's mom, you know.

Participant 2 shared her position on securing the well-being of staff and students, for students and staff,

If you're not happy going into work ... if I have a child that's not happy coming into school, I must find out why, because they're not going to learn if they're unhappy Is it us or is it something at home? If it's something at home, how can we help with that or help the parents with that?

Principal 4 captured an image of a pair of well-worn tennis shoes. She explained that she wears comfortable shoes because she is constantly on the move. "I'm in every classroom every day."

Principal 3's image of the parent pick-up loop represented a place for connecting with the parents. "I am out here every afternoon that I can, and it's a joy to see and talk with the parents." Other principals expressed similar sentiments. It was evident from the data that connecting with all stakeholders in a positive and consistent way was of the utmost importance to each of them and that their style of leadership was intended to maintain and expand such connections.

Summary of Findings: Research Question 3

How do elementary principals in a large southeastern school district view the influence of professional training and professional relationships on their perceived level of self-efficacy as a principal? Two overarching themes for this research question were that professional training programs greatly impacted their job performance, and professional relationships increased their perceived level of self- efficacy for the role of educational leadership.

Professional Training Programs Greatly Impact Performance

In Section 3 of the interview protocols participants were asked to describe the kind of preparatory training they received to become a principal, whether they believed this training was adequate, and the influence of these programs on their perceived sense of efficacy. Most of the participants described the preparatory training as good, adequate, and valuable. They intimated that they would not have had the knowledge and skills to lead with confidence without the preparatory training and support they received.

Participant 3 admitted,

Without the professional development, I think we would have much less consistency in the district on how programs are used, whether it's the teacher evaluation tool, how we conduct our safety and security and our drills, all those things. The professional development behind them is critical to make sure that some aspects remain consistent across the district.

Participant 5 made a similar claim,

Learning on the job would have been much more difficult without having an opportunity to practice certain skills before assuming the job. And even the first year, there was guidance on a lot of things that we may not have covered in the intern program.

All participants expressed their belief that they had a high level of perceived self-efficacy for job functions like teacher evaluation, data analysis, and planning and monitoring instruction and student learning, However, the more experienced principals cited differences in principal preparation and development training in recent years compared to the more "complete" training they received when they were becoming principals that prepared them more equitably for instructional practice and operations management responsibilities. These individuals expressed a higher level of perceived self- efficacy for performance in operational areas like managing the school's budget.

I feel my training in professional development was very helpful, I do think there's a gap now for leaders, especially along the way. I just don't think we have the same training; they [district] got too far into instructional. Instructional practice is important, but the building comes with it (Participant 6).

Nowadays, they don't have as much of the operational pieces because Broward moved away from that, and some of the people over the years are being demoted or losing their jobs or getting in trouble because they don't know how to balance a budget, or they don't know how to look for property inventory (Participant 2).

Participant 1 echoed those claims,

Broward went full swing into instructional leadership and, 'This is what you guys are going to do,' They forgot that, well, there's a building around you you're still responsible for, because that didn't go away.

Participants alluded to the preparatory training, professional development, and support through mentorship programs as foundational parts of their high level of efficacy in their ability to do their job well and make a difference every day that they lead.

Professional Relationships Increase Perceived Levels of Self-Efficacy

It was apparent from the interviews that the study subjects do not rely entirely on district programs to help them achieve and maintain success in leadership. Personal effort and mutually supportive relationships with other principals and mentors were regarded as paramount to successfully navigate the demands of the job— especially during times that made them question their ability to continue. Each participant shared at least one example in which a peer or mentor provided them support, knowledge, or inspiration that motivated them to rise to own the responsibility and find, or create solutions that led to a positive outcome.

You vent, and then you get back to work ... figure out how to make the

round peg fit in the square hole ... somebody that can just encourage you that it's going to be okay ... someone that can share resources with you ... you don't know what to do or you don't have the material to do it (Participant 4).

Overcoming obstacles and experiencing success with the help and encouragement of their professional network gave them an increased sense of self-efficacy. Participant 1 credited his perceived high level of self- efficacy to his relationship with a veteran principal.

I learned more on how to become an effective administrator from talking to high performing administrators that were doing the job every day and from talking to retirees as well.

Study subjects spoke extensively about their relationships with other principals. The veteran principals in this study explained how they befriended new administrators within their cadre to offer support and encouragement. These relationships were described as invaluable especially for helping the novice principals through difficult times. Participant 1 spoke of a closely knit group of principals of which he is now a part. The group encourages one another and shares best practices,

I have a group of principal friends now that were, in my opinion, all highly effective leaders, and we all do things very similarly, but we also tailor it to the type of schools we're at and the staff that we have. It would have helped in other situations where I sometimes felt like I was on an island.

Summary of Findings: Research Question 4

How have the lived experiences of these elementary principals contributed to their perceived level of self-efficacy? The following themes were articulated in the data:

leadership experiences both increase and decrease the perceived self- efficacy levels of participants, and negative experiences can force leaders into actions that increases their perceived self-efficacy levels. At the time of data collection educators in the district were attempting to perambulate the fallout from a mass shooting. COVID brought a temporary halt to data collection and when the research resumed a year later, the participants were facing increased demands for school security and health safety. Although they mentioned typical issues such as staff concerns, irate parents, and custodial problems, they were most vocal about security and school safety and how they were (and continue to be) affected by the pressures from state and district requirements in these areas.

Lived Experiences Increase and Decrease Perceived Self-Efficacy

In the aftermath of a school shooting that garnered national attention, and during a pandemic that changed the format for how public education is delivered, participants confessed they sometimes questioned their ability to do their job under such duress.

When discussing their lived experiences within this context, they shared moments when both difficulties and successes played a part in elevating or diminishing their perceived sense of self- efficacy levels. In addition to the challenges of implementing and managing additional safety and security measures such as planning and executing schoolwide active shooter drills and then online instruction for elementary students (a first for the district), principals were still accountable for student performance on state-mandated standardized tests. "There was a level of adapting to this new concept of being a virtual principal.

There was no time to learn. We just had to do it right" (Participant 3).

"We had to just jump in and do it just like our teachers. I had to take all the

structures I had in place and just repackage everything for the virtual world just like my teachers did" (Participant 6). "I didn't know how I would survive this year and a half because of everything we were tasked to do as principals in this COVID year" (Participant 4).

For those participants, the temporary yet often significant decrease in their perceived self- efficacy was outweighed by the increase in perceived levels of efficacy once they found and implemented solutions or made it past obstacles. Others claimed to bolster themselves by continuing to believe in who they are as a leader and by maintaining high expectations for themself. "I show up for the folks in my building and for the community I serve. I don't show up for this job to impress anybody because I know my ability. I'm not questioning whether I can do this job" (Participant 5). Participant 2 was equally assertive about their high level of perceived self- efficacy, "I don't really need affirmation from anybody. I don't need validation because I know that I only operate from positive intent."

In the period following the mass shooting and at the onset of the COVID pandemic, measures taken by the state and school district were described by the participants as extreme, unrealistic, overwhelming, and humanly impossible. The lived experiences of participants during that time especially, lowered their morale in varying degrees and at times, directly contributed to decreasing their perceived level of self-efficacy. One participant's Photovoice data included an image of a district proposal to arm school administrators. The proposal was eventually abandoned as it was met with great resistance. This participant's sentiments articulated the perspective of all the participants on the matter.

They were really talking about principals and APs being armed. They talked. about army teachers. I had teachers go, 'Well, I'm happy to carry one when they're ready.' I'm like, 'The day you start getting a gun, I'm out the door because we don't need them in here. We just don't (Participant 5).'

The following participant statements attest to the weight of their job requirements during that time. "The stress is unbelievable because you have all of these people that you're responsible for" (Participant 3). "When the work becomes burdensome, I get short with my family and then I have to rewind and say, 'They don't deserve that.' I do a lot of reflecting" (Participant 6). "After just 2 months on the job, the mass shooting happened in our district and that in and of itself was a challenge because it was safety, safety all the time" (Participant 1).

A common concern at the time of the study was how time spent on safety protocols was taking away from instructional time and student learning. As instructional leaders, participants worried about being able to facilitate favorable (or previously held) levels of student achievement. Since their school grade and their personal performance is substantially rated according to student achievement, they felt the prospect of good performance outcomes was low. This belief also contributed to lower levels of perceived self-efficacy. "So what happens now is the majority of our day is tied to behavior threat assessments (which are things we should be focused on), but it takes away from our core mission of teaching and learning" (Participant 2). Participant 1 concurred:

We really don't have the resources to chase all these things down and get into the classroom to make sure kids are learning and teach to educate my kids and help

teachers to receive their appropriate professional development, et cetera, on top of quarantining classrooms, contact tracing, et cetera.

Participants intimated that when resources were hard to obtain, or unattainable and when despite their best efforts, student scores dropped and lowered the school rating, their level of efficacy also dropped—if only temporarily. It's not about the scores right now. It's about getting the ship to sail because this is the Titanic and it's sinking right now. We got to get everybody back on the ship and get the ship turned and going in the right direction. Then you can start measuring how fast and how far we're going. Despite the stress and personal sacrifices, the principals also enunciated their commitment to their position as the leader of their school. They used the new challenges surrounding virtual and blended instruction and safety and security to learn additional skills, establish and broaden relationships, and strengthen their resolve to continue leading with excellence. The circumstances that at times made them doubt their ability also pushed them to challenge themselves to do more. They explained that each small success helped them to believe they could keep going. In essence, every win amid the discomfort and press to reach critical expectations served to build up their confidence and boost their perceived levels of self-efficacy. The following example from Participant 2 is an example of such. COVID taught me it's okay to ask for help ... I was solitary in the sense of the virtual, but I also had colleagues that were going through the same mental and emotional challenges. We built a little core group (Participant 2).

Participants also used their Photovoice images to share aspects of how their lived experiences affected their self-efficacy. Participant 5 described a photo of the school garden as a place that gives her joy and a sense of accomplishment which added to her

perceived level of self- efficacy. Our kids are learning about the environment and applying things they learn. They really enjoy the gardens. The teachers love it too. As you can see, we have benches and chairs out here. They sometimes come sit here to have lunch.

In contrast, Participant 6's narrative about the school laptop in the dim lamplight on her desk emoted how lonely the job is. "I am surrounded by so many people all day, but I often feel so alone ... everything rests on my shoulders." Admittedly, there are times when the loneliness of leadership lowered this participant's perceived level of self-efficacy.

Negative Experiences Can Increase Perceived Levels of Self-Efficacy

Despite the challenges of the pandemic, the participants intimated that they learned valuable lessons about their role and themselves as a person because of it.

They spoke of having to "dig deep" into themselves to find abilities and strength they were unaware they had before, because their job performance required it. They managed to successfully traverse the pandemic fallout which ultimately increased their perceived sense of self- efficacy. The stringent requirements associated with school security were taxing. However, study participants articulated personal perspectives that indicated a willingness to do whatever was necessary to keep their school safe. This statement was reflective of their sentiments,

I was always conscious of safety and security ... you're giving me your children, and I have my staff there all day, I want to protect them ... our doors were locked in our classrooms long before the [mass shooting]. We have various progress-monitoring tools in place to make sure we're tracking our students ... that's still

the most important thing, to make sure our kids are receiving a world class education *and* being safe (Participant 3).

Additionally, the principals in this study expressed high levels of perceived self-efficacy in their current role as school leader as evidenced by the responses to questions about their level of confidence in doing their job in operations, teacher evaluations, and instructional leadership. Such confidence is based on systems they have implemented within their school to monitor student progress, use data to drive instruction, and provide support and professional development for their teachers and staff. Some of these systems were developed in response to low student achievement and other negative factors.

Participant 4 gave this example,

When we receive our latest data points, we have those data chats, and then we have conversations with teachers to inquire about next steps and how to make instruction shift to meet the needs of their students based on the current data.

Another area that spoke to this research question was when participants were tasked with switching the delivery of student instruction to a completely virtual platform in response to the COVID pandemic. None of the participants had taught virtually, and none had ever supervised virtual instruction for an entire school. To guide the transition from traditional, in- person to virtual classrooms was a huge and intimidating undertaking. It required them to help create and implement technology systems for student learning, communication, school operations, and continued instructional leadership on their part. Some participants acknowledged the terror they felt because they were not technology experts, while others narrated the struggles they encountered while

trying to guide and encourage teachers who lacked the skills and confidence to teach from a virtual delivery system.

Participants said their position forced them to seek out support and ways to do their job at the same level they had prior to the pandemic. This included maintaining high expectations for themselves and reasonable expectations for staff and students. "The same skill sets applied in the virtual world; think about your people; give them what they need, support them. Some teachers pivoted quite naturally to online, but some teachers couldn't- without help, they couldn't have done it" (Participant 6).

Furthermore, they established that their willingness to own their responsibilities and do what was necessary to endure and achieve some measure of success. Finding solutions, and availing themselves to their staff, students, and community helped to build up their perceived level of efficacy within a context that could have greatly lowered, or even destroyed it. Participant 1's statement is an effective summation of their combined perspectives. "We can't wait for Superman, so we must figure it out ourselves" (Participant 1).

Concluding Summary of Findings

In this chapter, the primary researcher presented the findings of a qualitative case study that explored the perceived self-efficacy of elementary principals in the second largest school district in the southeastern region of the United States. An overview of the research methodology and the findings from the interview and Photovoice data were explained. The research was guided by four overarching questions relative to educational leadership and self-efficacy. The findings of the study were explained according to the research question they answered.

Through reflexive, thematic analysis of the data the researcher was able to deduce the following themes that were described by the researcher: (a) principals possess high-level skill sets and abilities, (b) principals have a high level of perceived self-efficacy, (c) prioritize time management to fulfill critical obligations, (d) leading with compassion and flexibility fosters trust and a sense of community, (e) connect with stakeholders to build collaborative relationships, (f) professional training programs greatly impact job performance, (g) professional relationships increase perceived levels of self- efficacy, (h) leadership experiences both increase and decrease perceived levels of self- efficacy, and (i) negative experiences can increase perceived self-efficacy levels These themes will be the basis for the discussion about the study findings in Chapter 5 as well as possible implications, applications, and recommendations for future research on this phenomenon.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Introduction

In recent years, political perspectives, public opinion, cultural climate, and natural disaster have all helped to shape the evolution of public education delivery and management in America. The position of school principal has become a central point of focus as they are the ones held most accountable for teacher performance and student achievement (Viloria, 2019; Wieczorek et al., 2019). As the rob of school principal has changed and expanded to encompass increasingly complex and diverse responsibilities, the pressure to perform with efficiency has also increased. The central question the t researcher endeavored to answer was, how prepared are today's principals to meet newly reformed performance expectations? This study of a select group of elementary school principals in a large school district in the southeastern United States aimed to explore and better understand the self-efficacy of principals and how they have adapted to accommodate job expectations within the context of their complex role. The study was anchored by four questions that guided the research procedures and analysis of the data.

Findings and Interpretation

Research Question 1

Study participants were asked to share their opinions about the skills and capabilities needed to perform the demanding requirements of their job, and their perceived level of personal efficacy in those areas. Study results revealed the principals believed they have high-level (specific skills) as well as a strong personal sense of self-efficacy and these critical for successful outcomes in educational leadership.

Principalship Requires High-Level Skill Sets and Leadership Abilities

Study participants equally emphasized that the complexity of their dual position as administrator and instructional leader required a broad spectrum of higher-level abilities. For example, all participants claimed to have outstanding interpersonal skills that includes the ability to build strong relationships of trust with stakeholders. They also spoke of the skills needed to manage diverse groups of people, effectively communicate the school vision, and listen and provide solutions for staff and parents. Additionally, participants highlighted the critical role of adequate training for operations management tasks like allocating school funds, monitoring inventory, hiring staff, and overseeing the maintenance of the school building. This includes knowledge about the functions of the school and its systems as well as the ability to recognize needs as well as having the confidence to act from personal discernment in any given situation. While five of the six participants expressed high levels of perceived self- efficacy in all these areas, one participant admitted that the school budget was initially their greatest obstacle and although they are much more confident now, their perceived level of efficacy is not yet where they would like it to be.

Likewise, participants expressed the belief that, as instructional leaders, they are knowledgeable about curriculum content, interpreting and managing student data, and using student data to drive instruction. They were also highly confident in using the district's performance evaluation system to rate teacher performance. They regarded themselves as possessing a high level of innate leadership abilities that have been cultivated and refined through professional learning and leadership experiences throughout their career as educators and educational leaders.

The participants' perceptions about capabilities and skill sets they have, and their strong sense of perceived self- efficacy was comparable to the literature on this subject. Exemplary school administrators cultivate a climate that is fruitful, build learning-focused, collaborative relationships, and are intentional and precise in their management (Acton, 2021; Grissom et al., 2021). Moreover, previous studies have established that beyond leadership style, it is their knowledge (ability), and confidence that makes an educational leader most efficient (Houchens et al., 2017; Kim, 2020; McBrayer et al., 2018).

Principals Must Have a Hight Level of Perceived Self-Efficacy

The study findings illustrated the how the participants demonstrated high levels of perceived self- efficacy even when dealing with fear and adverse situations. Participants confirmed that the determining factor in overcoming adversity, and the motivation to face challenges head- on was belief in their ability to do so. In essence, they came into their leadership position with a high level of perceived self- efficacy. They shared the belief that nature of educational leadership requires a high level of confidence in oneself and in one's ability to handle the difficulties and demands of the hob.

According to Barling and Beattie (1983), self-efficacy is a person's perception about their ability to complete a specific task. A study by Bandura and Bailey (1990) confirmed a relationship between the individual's perceived self-efficacy, their goals, and the performance outcomes of their organization. The findings for Research Question 1 suggested that these participant's' strong belief in their ability to do the performance tasks required by their organization, has resulted in good performance outcomes for their schools.

Research Question 2

Questions in part two of the interview protocol were designed to elicit answers for how the principals had adjusted their leadership style to meet the state and school district's performance requirements for their job. Three major themes were derived from the data, prioritize time management to fulfill critical obligations, leading with compassion and flexibility fosters trust and a sense of community, and connecting with stakeholders builds collaborative relationships.

Prioritize Time Management to Fulfill Critical Obligations

The study subjects described the complexity of fulfilling multiple leadership roles while serving in one position, and the critical nature of each. A problem that was unanimously articulated was the lack of time they had to meet all the demands.

Participants described their days as starting early (almost always arriving before everyone else), multi-tasking all day to complete various duties, and staying after hours to read and respond to emails, make, and return calls, address custodial issues, and planning.

Participants claimed they have adjusted their leadership style (and personal lives0 to accommodate the requirements of the job. Learning ways to make the best use of the time they had available was sometime each participant avowed was paramount to meeting deadlines and addressing the most pressing issues in a timely and efficient way.

The Photovoice data also reflected the pressure of leadership relative to time. For one participant captured an image of trays labeled 'in' and 'out' on their desk. The image of these office trays represented the constant flow of paperwork that required attention and the stress of trying to keep the contents of the 'out' basket higher than that of the 'in'

basket while juggling other duties and time-sensitive matters. Another participant's image of a partly- consumed smoothie being symbolized the non-stop pace of a typical school day, how they are constantly on the move and rarely have enough time to eat anything on most days.

Previous research discerned similar findings, that educational leadership demands relative to time such as the daily work pace, long days, limited amount of time for meeting obligations like meetings, staff development and complying with deadlines on the district calendar (like safety drills and teacher evaluations) are all factors over which they have little autonomy (Denecker, 2019). Their success requires careful planning and wise allocation of their time. These studies also confirmed the link between time constraints and negative emotions for principals. Unattainable time constraints can lead to principals feeling overwhelmed and insecure. Such negative emotions have an unfavorable effect on their wellness and subsequently, on the school they serve (Hochbein et al., 2021; McBrayer et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2023).

Lead With Compassion and Flexibility to Facilitate Trust and a Sense of Community

Participants said being an instructional leader requires excellent time management as well as specific knowledge and skills. For example, to become more adept at monitoring instruction and student progress, participants had to deepen their understanding of how to use student data. As data manager for their school, they must provide support and professional development for teachers as well as model how data must be used to drive teaching and learning. This is an aspect of instructional leadership that has gained traction in recent years as pressure for higher performance on standardized tests has become a major district goal. Participants shared ongoing

challenges with teachers who still lack the competence to analyze and use their student data, and those who are unwilling to do so with fidelity. Each has made it a school-wide priority and take time to mentor and assist those in need of this support.

These participants expressed a high regard for their teachers and staff. When sharing their difficulties, they also share the interventions they have put in place to help circumvent frustration and low performance. They spoke of maintaining an "open door" office policy before and after school hours where teachers and staff can stop by to talk in a space where there is no judgment. They believe their transparency and compassion as a leader has resulted in trust and a greater sense of unity as a school community. They explained their awareness that how they lead translates into how teachers and students perform, and that when their teachers feel safe, respected, and appreciated, they expectations for performance outcomes are better and they perform from a higher perceived level of self-efficacy.

Participants further intimated that good leadership is considering the well-being of teachers, staff, and students— even to the extent of placing the perceived needs of their school above district directives. Hoque and Raya's (2022) study on leadership style confirmed this belief claiming that successful leaders adapt a style of leadership that promotes favorable relationships with their teachers. In addition, it is important that principals consider the emotional needs of teachers because their emotional state directly affects the classroom environment and student learning. This advocacy and flexible manner of leading showed the participants' ability to adapt their approach to best meet the needs of their school within the context of district requirements demonstrated their versatility and dedication to maintaining relationships of trust within their school

community. This ability to lead from contextual awareness suggested a strong correlation to the research of Norman and Gurr (2020) which concluded that good leadership is highly contextual in nature. The researchers argued that the degree of success experienced by educational leaders is contingent on the way leaders adjust their methods in response to circumstances and issues within the context. Clarke and O'Donoghue (as cited by Normann & Gurr, 2020) defined this context as the organizational and environmental setting of the educational institution.

When faced with the task of guiding their teachers through the transition to the virtual school platform, study participants shared how they found new ways to communicate with teachers that included weekly affirmations and technical support.

They were flexible in expectations for staff who had sick family members or had lost loved ones. However, they maintained a reasonable standard for performance and expected staff to do their jobs consistently and efficiently and modeled these expectations. Norman and Gurr (2020) further argued that while there are always a variety of cultural contexts influencing the school, successful school leaders lead in a way that creates a sense of balance between these contexts that results in "an inclusive, multicultural" environment, and while being conscious of culture, not "constrained by context."

Connecting With Stakeholders Builds Collaborative Relationships

Previous studies underscored the establishment of productive and collaborative relationships between principals and teachers as imperative to the realization of organizational goals. The effect of supportive instructional leadership that includes teacher input as part of a collaborative process has been proven to affect the collective

efficacy of teachers (Goddard et al., 2021). Furthermore, the leader's ability to identify with members of the school community through equity leadership and acceptance is vital to the organization (Grissom et al., 2020).

In their responses, study participants readily acknowledged their aspirations towards a shared vision, teamwork, equity, and a family atmosphere within their school community and stressed the importance of building good relationships with all stakeholders. One principal at a large school in an urban neighborhood where single-parent homes are the norm due to alcohol and drug addiction and high incarceration rates found a way to make the school a community resource center for parents seeking help for addiction recovery. Principal 4 spoke of how bringing the support staff and teachers together to help find a creative way to boost parental involved in school activities has drawn parents and family members into the school family nights. because of this collaborative effort, parental involvement increased from only six parents when she became principal to the now overcrowded hallways on school event nights.

Another participant regarded changing the school culture from one that marginalized certain ethnic groups to one where all ethnicities are made to feel welcome as one of their greatest achievements. It was also evident from the data that collaborative leadership that included teachers, staff, other administrators, and community representatives was a priority for the participants (Grissom et al., 2021; Thomas-El et al., 2020).

Research Question 3

Participants were asked to share how professional training and development and

professional relationships have influenced their self-efficacy as a principal. Interview questions about training included questions about their training to become a principal as well as training received after assuming the role. The responses revealed two prominent themes, principal training programs greatly impact job performance, and professional relationships increase perceived levels of self-efficacy.

Principal Training Programs Greatly Impact Job Performance

This theme corresponded with studies that emphasized the need for principal training prior to them taking office, and ongoing mentorship and professional development for sitting principals (Kim & Lowery, 2020; Levin et al., 2020). Participants attributed their ability to act efficiently in both their administrative and instructional leadership roles—especially for more complex duties like overseeing all aspects of the school budget, evaluating teachers, and monitoring student performance using data to their training. Several participants acknowledged that without the training before assuming the job, their experience would have been very different, and they likely would not have survived their first year on the job.

On the other hand, participants shared frustration about deficiencies in the training and the lack of support after the first year that also impacted their performance. While the principals described the district preparation program as satisfactory overall, a few suggested that the training itself was not enough preparation for all the operational demands, particularly the school budget. The more senior principals also noted that because the district was so laser focused on instructional leadership and standardized tests performance outcomes, that the newer principals are not receiving the same level of training they received for the operational components of the job.

Bandura (1977) contended that when people experience success through mastery of a task or skill, it has the greatest influence on self-efficacy. Likewise, when people experience failures before efficacy has been sufficiently established, this can undermine future success. He further asserted that the encouragement received during personal coaching and mentorship could provide the kind of self-assurance necessary to conquer feelings of anxiety and inadequacy that restrict one's ability to push ahead until success is reached (Bandura, 1982). Study participants who were veteran principals expressed a greater degree of perceived self- efficacy regarding performance on operational areas like managing the school budget. They credited the training they received for providing them with the knowledge and hands- on experience they needed to be successful in this area. Less experienced participants referred to managing the school budget as an area for further development except for one participant who credited their high level of perceived self- efficacy in school finances (and generally-speaking) to the mentorship of an older and very experienced school principal. The mentorship component of the district's principal preparation program was described by participants as invaluable and very helpful. The data indicated a general satisfaction with the program from all participants.

The analysis of the data concerning principal preparation also led to an interesting and unexpected discovery. Although every school had students with some degree of exceptionality (as briefly mentioned in the context of student testing and test scores), and participants spoke about concerns for all students, closing achievement gaps, and equity, only one of the six principals in this study spoke directly about special education students and inclusion efforts at their school. The principal talked about interacting with students in the school's autism cluster and the many efforts that have been made to accommodate

them, make them feel like they belong and support their parents and families. This principal admitted she knew very little about autism and special needs students when they became the principal of a school that was home to a large special needs group of children.

The fact that five of six principals did not mention inclusion-related equity, or instructional leadership efforts and responsibilities specifically relevant to special education was concerning. Moreover, the single participant who was aware of the needs of exceptional students and the rules about inclusion (ESSA) admitted that her knowledge was solely from on-the-job experiences and her taking the initiative to pursue that knowledge. This unexpected finding does not mean that those five participants are ignorant of special education laws or failing to satisfy the needs of their exceptional education students, however it could be an indication that specialized training and additional resources are needed in this area. It could also mean that the district's intense focus on student achievement and the accompanying pressure on principals may cause them to see exceptional education as secondary to the more consequential task of maintaining or increasing the test scores of regular education students so their school can be rated within an acceptable range.

This finding suggested a similarity to the findings of several studies that explored the perceptions and attitudes of principals and exceptional education. The studies reported that many principals are unfamiliar with special education law and policies and indicated a need for more training on special education and diversity in principal preparation programs to ensure principals are equipped to address the needs of all students in accordance with federal requirements (Every Student Succeeds Act, 2015; Sun & Yin, 2020; White et al., 2021).

Professional Relationships Increase Perceived Self- Efficacy Levels

Relationships, the way one interacts with others within an organization, also influence self-efficacy. Self-efficacy is an internal, personal rating of one's ability to adequately do a particular task. When a task is hard, the relating self-efficacy increases the amount of effort and determination the person puts out to complete the task and this increases the likelihood of their success (Bandura & Beattie, 1983). According to Redmond (2010), efficacy alone does not determine success or failure. The person's performance outcome expectations (deciding whether the knowledge applied to past situations will work for this new challenge) also plays a part. In addition, persons who have done well in the past and were rewarded in some way (an award, verbal praise, a good evaluation, merit pay) for doing a good job experience increased self-efficacy (Redmond, 2010).

This study's findings seemed to further illustrate the ideology of self- efficacy regarding how positive relationships and feedback from peers and superiors in the form of affirmation, acceptance and empathy contributed to the self-efficacy of principals when faced with difficult tasks (Bandura & Beattie, 1983). Participants shared how strong peer relationships helped to sustain them and the relationships with cadre leaders and mentors they turn to for help when they are in need. These professional relationships have played a big role in helping them to maintain a high level of perceived self-efficacy, and more importantly, the support and encouragement has served to raise the participants' perceived levels of efficacy during times when they felt inadequate or were on the verge of giving up. Study participants shared examples of instances when input from professional relationships inspired them, stretched their worldview, and challenged

them to do more. One participant confessed that the regular interaction with other principals during cadre meetings has helped to make him a better leader. Sharing best practices and hearing the innovative activities happening at other schools were inspiring and motivating.

The study findings for Research Question 3 also suggested that a benefits of having relationships of mutual respect and trust with other principals increased perceived self- efficacy. Participants called on other principals when unsure about a decision they needed to make, to share small victories, to vent, and to encourage one another.

Participants 4 and 6 talked about befriending new cadre members and looking out for novice principals. Participant 1 spoke of the toll the position can take on the emotions and how on several occasions he had to convince fellow administrators not to give up.

Participants maintained their job has changed dramatically since the Stoneman-Douglas mass shooting. Sharing their challenges with other leaders and receiving encouragement and support helped to bolster, and at times increase their perceived self- efficacy because they had the security of knowing they were not alone, others faced the same obstacles.

They had the support of their professional community.

Their experiences further suggested a correlation to Bandura's (1977) findings on the effect of verbal persuasion on self- efficacy. Bandura concluded that verbal persuasion alone is not enough to produce a perpetual sense of efficacy, rather verbal persuasion along with support and the necessary tools to succeed are what creates efficacy that is more likely to endure. While the researcher's review of the literature did not yield findings about principals' professional relationships with colleagues and superiors in isolation, discussions about the relationship between their perceived self-

efficacy in response to feedback from their performance outcomes and the performance of teachers (as well as relationships with teachers) abound. The studies show that professional relationships have a bearing on successful school leadership and that exemplary leaders build productive vertical and horizontal relationships with all stakeholders (Houchens et al., 2017; Homer & Westberry, 2022; Justus, et al., 2023).

Research Question 4

The findings for this research question spoke to how the lived experiences of the participating principals influenced their self-efficacy in both positive and adverse ways. the data also suggested that negative experiences can lead to increased perceived self-efficacy as the individual responds to those experience by taking measures to overcome the difficulty. Subjects shared some of the effects of their lived experiences in the interviews and through the essences captured in their Photovoice images. Their experiences within the context of educational leadership both increased and diminished their perceived self-efficacy according to the nature of the circumstances and their perceptions about the outcomes.

According to Bandura (1977) and Redmond (2010), the negative emotions that manifest in response to very difficult or stressful circumstances, is a type of feedback that can gauge how the person will handle the problem (or if they will avoid dealing with it altogether). Extremely elevated levels of stress-related emotions like anxiety can destroy self-efficacy or drastically reduce it. Two key findings were deduced from the data for this final research question, safety and security are added leadership challenges, and leadership experiences affect efficacy. Both findings were highly reflective of Bandura and other experts' assertions regarding how self-efficacy is shaped and influenced.

Leadership Experiences Both Increase and Decrease Perceived Self-Efficacy Levels

In the aftermath of the Stoneman-Douglas shooting, participants struggled to process what had happened while adjusting schedules, school safety plans, and professional development focus to accommodate demands for faculty and student training on safety procedures such as active shooter drills. Participants said it was stressful and described some of the new protocols as extreme and virtually impossible to accommodate. One participant argued that while school safety is important, such extreme measures are counterproductive and even harmful to the school's mission, and that research shows a very small likelihood of such an event occurring again.

When the COVID pandemic hit, the participants became virtual instructional leaders forced to supervise distribution of technology resources to students, plan and manage the implementation and maintenance of virtual educational delivery with little to no experience with such specializes duties. Each participant said they had moments when they questioned their ability to do what was required. In schools that offered blended instruction before school closures, participants had to field requests and make decisions as to which teachers would report to school and who would facilitate distance learning remotely. This task was described as very difficult and stressful because everyone wanted to stay at home.

Participants confided they were very concerned about their health of that of their staff and students. Some lost loved ones and everyone knew someone who did. They also expressed they were especially concerned for students when schools closed—particularly about isolation and lack of care for students who did not have ideal circumstances at

home. Another major concern for participants was, how students would perform after such a disruption in the learning process. Lack of resources and manpower were also factors that made participants feel inundated and doubtful about their leadership capabilities during the pandemic. The circumstances within this context caused their previously high levels of perceived self- efficacy to fluctuate in response to situations from day-to-day.

The concerns and uncertainty of the study participants during times of crisis pointed to similarities with findings of previous studies about educational leadership in times of a crisis like COVID-19. Principals in these studies also faced challenges with adhering to required protocols like contact tracing due to the sheer magnitude of such an endeavor (especially in larger schools). Limited resources and manpower, and lack of preparedness were also factors that contributed to their anxiety and stress (Azukas, 2022; Diliberti et al., 2022; MacGillis, 2023; Rochester & Sanders, 2023). However, the experiences of these BCPS participants were unique in that they were already stressed and overwhelmed with changes from the fallout of the mass shooting in their district when they were faced with the issues caused by COVID-19. A study participant described them as two tectonic events that reduced or redefined their role from principals to security specialists.

Negative Experiences Can Increase Perceived Self-Efficacy

Study participants shared a variety of leadership experiences that included challenges and successes. When they were able to implement solutions that solved a problem or helped to improve a situation, they felt they had done their job and showed effective leadership ability which caused them to maintain a high level of perceived self-

efficacy. For example, when student data showed learning gains, they believed they were on track to perform well on state tests. As Bandura (1977) claimed, these mastery experiences increased or helped to maintain the individual's sense of efficacy.

The findings for this research question also suggested that because these participants began their careers as principals with a high level of perceived self-confidence, when faced with adversity, they were able to reach within themselves and apply skills and knowledge they already possessed in a way that afforded them eventual success instead of being demoralized to the point of losing their efficiency and focus. One participant's perspective was that as a leader, he has the power to affect the school climate in a positive or negative manner every day, and that although there must be allowances for being human, as a leader he must also be ever-conscientious of the ripple effect his attitude can have on those who surround him. Another participant explained how they used challenges as opportunities to collaborate with their team because they realized that outcomes were not contingent on their efforts alone:

All participants spoke about self-assessment and reflection as tools for continual leadership improvement and discussed the importance of perspective in doing the best they can, and giving themselves grace when they do their best and it's not enough to fix everything. They shared how difficult it is to be at peace with themselves when they cannot solve every problem, yet they expressed it is necessary to be realistic while keeping sight of the vision and working towards it. They noted it is also important to acknowledge and encourage the hard work and efforts of others.

These findings are indicative of Bandura's theory that when faced with complex or challenging tasks, leaders with a high level of self-efficacy view the challenge as a

factor within their role and responsibility so they move to secure whatever is needed to meet the obligation. Moreover, the findings in the literature regarding influences on the efficacy of school principals disclosed a definitive link between self- efficacy and working conditions within the context of educational leadership. Westberry (2021) illustrated the unique challenges for principals who were largely unprepared to manage curriculum and instructional delivery for virtual instruction. For many, a lack of technological resources and support, and inadequate interpersonal skills for dealing with the many diverse administrative, instructional, and human relations demands were also hurdles to overcome. During a pandemic and in the aftermath of a mass shooting, students need more than academic support. The emotional demands on the school leader to provide and model social emotional support to students, families, staff, and themselves necessitated specialized skill sets as well as inner strength and compassion that was a hefty requirement for principals (Azukas, 2022; Diliberti et al., 2020; Justus et al., 2023; Rochester et al., 2023).

Implications of the Findings

The findings of this qualitative study can be beneficial to the arena of educational leadership in that they provide insight to the experiences of elementary principals from their perspectives and in their voices. The researcher's review of existing literature yielded few qualitative studies about elementary principals and their lived experiences, and self- efficacy, and none on the self-efficacy of elementary principals in the district where this study was conducted— the largest school district in the southeastern United States (and sixth largest in the nation).

The questions that guided this study sought to determine how elementary principals perceived their efficacy relative to the specialized skills and general ability to perform well, how they modified their leadership style meet the demands of the role, how their perceived self- efficacy was influenced by trainings and professional relationships, and how their lived experiences as educational leaders contributed to their perceived sense of self- efficacy. The responses to these questions revealed that study participants had high levels of perceived self-efficacy regarding their performance and qualifications for the job of principal. They also believe that leading with compassion and flexibility and making connections for collaboration with stakeholders is a more effective way to lead in these times. In addition, they believe that trainings they received greatly impacted their job performance and that their professional relationships increased their perceived levels of self- efficacy. Participants' experiences both increased and decreased their perceived self-efficacy, and while negative experiences temporarily lowered their perceived self- efficacy, they also served as catalysts for perseverance and resilience that helped them create favorable outcomes that ultimately increased their perceived selfefficacy. Based on these findings the researcher has noted the following implications.

Support for the After-Effects of Trauma

Study findings illuminated the complexity of serving in the capacity of administrator and instructional leader of an elementary school. Each of those titles encompasses a plethora of responsibilities that require skills, knowledge, integrity, diplomacy, and courage. While the findings revealed the study participants were knowledgeable, highly-skilled, passionate, resilient, and possessed a high level of perceived self- efficacy, these qualifications did not make them impervious to the effects

of stress, lack of time and resources, and what they perceived as a lack of appreciation for their dedication and hard work. Moreover, the subjects felt that those in charge of educational regulations had little regard for their humanity. These findings coincided with those of previous studies about the effects of systemic demands and stressful work environments on school principals (Bell-Ellwanger, 2019; Denecker, 2019; Yan, 2020).

The literature established that educational leaders were deeply affected, personally and professionally by the COVID-19 pandemic. Numerous studies spoke about the overwhelming administrative demands, safety concerns, and fear that challenged the skills and resolve of even veteran principals (Diliberti et al., 2021; Lochmiller & Mancinelli, 2019; Murphy, 2021). The researcher deduced findings that were in alignment with data from current literature. Participants described their COVID leadership experience as one that tested all aspects of their abilities. For example, they were just as afraid as their charges, yet they had to find the courage and essentials to keep the learning community intact, and lead with compassion and positivity. These participants had already grappled with anxiety, confusion, and unexpected demands from policymakers the previous school year after a mass shooting at a high school in their district. Although the participants themselves did not experience a mass shooting at their school site, they all experienced the aftereffects of the tragedy. They felt the shock, fear, and sorrow of their district community.

State and district officials revised safety regulations and new gun laws were passed at the state and national levels. These measures were said to have provided some reassurance and stability (Hudson, 2022). Notwithstanding, study findings indicated a need for the acknowledgement of the trauma experienced by principals and support to

help them process their fears and concerns beyond the implementation and management of safety measures. This may be achievable through support groups and as a component of ongoing professional development and education. The researcher did not uncover any scholarly literature on the effect of mass shootings on elementary school principals outside of news reports and literature pertaining to principals whose schools were the site of these violent events (Schildkraut et al., 2021). However, studies examining the role of principals as security director in the context of a safety threat have substantiated the need for school principals to be proactive about selfcare during and after times of crises such as a mass shooting and a pandemic. Experts called upon federal, state and district agencies to provide greater assistance in preserving the emotional and physical wellbeing of school principals (Hayes et al., 2022; Sabuncuoglu & Beytekin, 2022).

Principal Preparation and Professional Development Programs

Study findings showed that although participants considered the preparation they received from district programs to be adequate, it was not sufficient for every area of need. Responsibilities that required highly specific skills such as overseeing the school budget, interpreting student data, leading teachers in the use of data to drive instruction, and virtual delivery of quality instruction were areas in which principals needed more training and mentorship, and ongoing professional development and support. The findings of this study also implied a need for greater focus on equity training and a balance between preparing students for test proficiency and inclusion of special education students within instructional leadership. This balance can be challenging amid pressure for high student achievement in a region where schools receive letter grades for school performance, but it is required by law and district leaders are obligated to provide

training and support for teacher and principals to that end (Sider et al., 2017; Sun & Xin, 2020; U.S. Department of Education, 2018). These findings echoed the literature regarding principal training and development and the needs that still existed among those who were already in the position of principal (Acton, 2021; Superville, 2022). Having the skills to do well in all areas helps to build one's sense of efficacy. High levels of perceived self- efficacy in leadership ability results in mastery and the increased probability of achieving organizational goals (Bandura, 1977; Sun & Xin, 2020).

Implications for Local District and Educational Policymakers

The findings of this study can be beneficial to the district where the study took place, and for education policymakers at district and state levels. The participants' descriptions of their lived experiences provided a window to their world and their voices articulated their personal experiences within the context of trying to satisfy the requirements of educational mandates. These findings may help to inform educational practices by helping to guide the development of principal training curriculum and the enhancement of existing programs for the training, mentorship, and evaluation of principals. It is important to note that although they shared their challenges and frustrations, they also shared their willingness to work hard and their commitment to the profession.

Study results corresponded with other studies that explored the unique needs of school principals, and the need for training, support, and systems that consider the overwhelming demands of the role. Likewise, the study finding showed that the support, resources, and compassion they desire are not only reasonable, but necessary for the performance outcomes these entities have mandated. The research literature has

established that when members of an organization are properly equipped and given the resources and support needed to meet objectives and expectations, they are more likely to achieve organizational objectives and maintain a high level of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1982; Kim, 2020; Thomas-EL et al., 2020).

Limitations of the Study

The researcher distinguished several limitations of this study. The primary limitation is the small sample size. The study included only six participants from a large school district in the southeastern United States. The data from such a small sample size does not reflect the perceptions of all elementary principals in that district or elementary principals in general. Additionally, the research data collection took place at a point in time when mitigating circumstances (a mass shooting followed by a pandemic) had presented uncommon challenges for study participants. There is a chance that if these events had not occurred, their responses about their experiences may have been different.

Additionally, accountability demands, and performance expectations have remained the same despite limited resources and the increased needs of staff and students. Within this environment of stressful expectations and limited autonomy, participants may have been apprehensive about disclosing the full scope of their experiences and their true opinions about educational policy on matters related to their current position. For example, they may not have felt they were adequately trained to evaluate teachers (especially those who teach specialized subjects like music and science) or to interpret student data yet claimed a strong sense of efficacy for ability in those areas for fear of being regarded as incompetent. Even with the reassurance of anonymity, some participants may not have been completely honest or forthcoming about their experiences

and feelings for fear of being reported to their superiors or other district personnel as someone who is disgruntled or unable to handle the pressures of the job. This study relied on the self-reporting of participants who for the afore-mentioned reasons may have withheld or misrepresented some of the requested information.

Lastly, although the researcher attempted to circumvent personal bias throughout the study processes by bracketing personal bias in a journal and conferring with peers, there is still a possibility that because the researcher was an educator in the district where the study was conducted and had personal knowledge of leadership and employee challenges, she may have been unaware of subtle and unintended bias.

Recommendations for Future Research

Future Research at the Local District

Based on the findings of the qualitative study, it would be beneficial for the district to commission a study that would further explore the efficiency of principal preparation programs in preparing administrators to complete both operational job and instructional leadership requirements with high levels of aptitude and perceived self – efficacy in both domains. This information could help to inform decisions regarding the district's leadership policies, principal preparation, and professional development and mentorship. Creating such policies and programs based on hard data would allow them to identify strengths and weaknesses and target specific areas of need within their organization.

More In-Depth Exploration of Identified Themes

This study identified nine major themes, (a) principalship requires high-level skill sets and abilities (b) principals must have a high levels of perceived self- efficacy, (c)

prioritize time management to fulfill critical obligations, (d) leading with compassion and flexibility fosters trust and a sense of community, (e) connecting with stakeholders builds collaborative relationships, (f) professional training programs greatly impact job performance, (g) professional relationships increased perceived levels of self- efficacy, (h) leadership experiences both increase and decrease perceived levels of self- efficacy, and (i) negative experiences can increase self-efficacy.

While studies about the role of principals are plentiful, a deeper analysis of each of these themes within the context of the role would be highly beneficial for better understanding of the experience with the intent to use this understanding to provide awareness within the educational arena, and additional support for school principals. Such investigation can also inform creators of principal preparation and educational leadership curriculum for school districts and institutions of higher learning.

Conclusion

This qualitative study is relevant to the field of education and educational leadership. It provides an important perspective on the current climate in public education from the viewpoint of individuals who serve in the demanding capacity of school principal. School principals play a crucial role in instruction and learning. Their belief in their ability to make their school a place where teachers can create innovative and productive learning environments that generate high achievement and learning gains for all students is crucial to their success as educational leaders. It is their daily efforts that results in outstanding instructional practices and student performance. This study revealed a need for greater balance between job performance expectations and support for school principals. The researcher recommends that more qualitative studies about the

educational leadership experience be done on a larger scale. Such research would be valuable in identifying systemic deficiencies and possible solutions to create the balance that school principals need and deserve.

References

- Acton, K. S. (2021). School leaders as change agents: Do principals have the tools they need? *Management in Education*, *35*(1), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/0892020620927415
- Azukas M. E. (2022). Leading remotely: Competencies required for virtual leadership. *TechTrends: For leaders in education & training*, 66(2), 327–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-022-00708-x
- Baker, M. A., Culbertson, A. L., Robinson, J. S., & Ramsey, J. W. (2017). Seeing what they see—A Photovoice analysis of exploratory early field experiences. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 58(2), 252–267.
 - https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Seeing-What-They-See--A-Photovoice-Analysis-of-Baker-Culbertson/699cd9a73428ee7a7727d88ad1516a4ae68e1aca
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. DOI:10.1037/10522-094
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

 *Psychological Review, 84, 191–215. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanisms in human agency. *American Psychologist*, 37, 122–147. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122
- Bandura, A. (1988). Organisational applications of social cognitive theory. *Australian Journal of Management*, 13, 275–302. doi:10.1177/031289628801300210
- Bandura, A. (1995). Exercise of personal and collective efficacy in changing societies. In A. Bandura (Ed.), *Self-efficacy in changing societies* (pp. 1–45). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511527692.003

.

- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. DOI:10.1037/10522-094
- Bandura, A. (1999). Social cognitive theory of personality. In L. A. Pervin & O. P. John (Eds.), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research* (2nd ed., pp. 154–196). The Guilford Press.
- Barling, J., & Beattie, R. (1983). Self-efficacy beliefs and sales performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 5, 41–51. doi:10.1300/J075v05n01_05
- Basileo, L. D, & Toth, M. (2019). A state level analysis of the Marzano Teacher

 Evaluation Model: Predicting teacher value-added measures with observation
 scores, *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation, 24*, Article 6.
 chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ
 1223396.pdf.
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report, 13*, 544–555. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol13/iss4/2/
- Bell-Ellwanger, J. (2019). Measuring Up: Using data to assess student growth is crucial, and different strategies will reveal different aspects of advancement. *Principal*, 99(2).
- Bickman, L., & Rog, D. (2008). The SAGE handbook of applied social research methodology (2nd ed.). SAGE.
- Broward County Public Schools. (n.d.). *Journey to authentic PLCs: PLC protocols*. https://www.browardschools.com/Page/31240 https://diginole.lib.fsu.edu/islandora/object/f

- Byrne, E., Daykin, N., & Coad, J. (2016). Participatory photography in qualitative research: A methodological review. *Visual Methodologies*, 4(2), 1–12. doi:10.7331/vm.v4i2.66
- Carbaugh, B. G., & Marzano, R. J. (2018). 2018 update: The Marzano Focused School

 Leader Evaluation Model (White paper).

 https://www.coursesidekick.com/management/258912
- Carbaugh, B., Marzano, R. J., & Toth, M. (2014). *Marzano School Leader Evaluation Model including scales, evidences, and learning map.*chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.marzanocenter.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2020/01/MC07-02-Focused-School-Leader-Evaluation-Model.pdf.
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report, 21*, 811–831. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2
- Center on Reinventing Public Education. (2020). "Spring District Responses," data set,

 May 15, 2020.

 https://duckduckgo.com/?q=Center+on+Reinventing+Public+Education.+(2020).

 +%E2%80%9CSpring+District+Responses%2C%E2%80%9D+data+set&atb=v3

 29-1&iax=images&ia=images
- Clark, R. E. (2001). Learning from media: Arguments, analysis, and evidence.

 Information Age.
- Clauser, A. L., Keller, L. A., & Mcdermott, K. A. (2016). Principals' uses and

- interpretations of student growth percentile data. *Journal of School Leadership*, 26(1), 6–33. doi:10.1177/105268461602600101
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process. Sage.
- Curry, M. C., & Wolf, L. L. (2017). The superintendent/principal: A position born in purgatory. *Education Leadership Review of Doctoral Research*, *5*, 30–48. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Safe+Schools&pr=on&ft=on&id=EJ1159195
- DeMatthews, D., Carrola, P., Reyes, P., & Knight, D. (2021). School leadership burnout and job-related stress: Recommendations for district administrators and principals, *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 94(4), 159–167, DOI: 10.1080/00098655.2021.1894083
- Denecker, C. (2019). School Principals' Work Stress in an Era of New Education Governance. Swiss Journal of Sociology/Schweizerische Zeitschrift Für Soziologie, 45(3), 447–466. https://doi.org/10.2478/sjs-2019-0021

- Diliberti, M. K., Schwartz, H. S., Hamilton, L. S., & Kaufman, J. H. (2020). Prepared for a pandemic? How schools' preparedness related to their remote instruction during COVID-19. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2020 https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA168-3.html.
- Donaldson, M., Mavrogordato, M., Dougherty, S. M., Ghanem, R. A., & Youngs, P. (2021). Principal evaluation under the Elementary and Secondary Every Student Succeeds Act: A Comprehensive Policy Review. *Education Finance and Policy*, *16*(2), 347–361. https://direct.mit.edu/edfp/article/16/2/347/97157/Principal-Evaluation-under-the-Elementary-and
- Ebrahimpour, F., Esmaeili, M., & Varaei, S. (2018). Photovoice: Method of data collection in qualitative research. *Nursing Practice Today*, *5*(1), 216–218. http://npt.tums.ac.ir/index.php/npt/article/view/322
- Education for All Handicapped Children Act, Pub. L. No. 94-142, 20 U.S.C. 1400 et seq. (1975).
- Every Student Succeeds Act. (2015). https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn
- Evie, B. (2018, October 16). What principals can do to keep schools safe amid shooting fears. *Education Week*, 38(9), 5–7.

 https://www.edweek.org/leadership/what-principals-can-do-to-keep-schools-safe-amid-shooting-fears/2018/10
- Fisher, Y. (2014). The timeline of self-efficacy: Changes during the professional life cycle of school principals. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *52*(1), 58–83. doi:10.1108/JEA-09-2012-0103

- Florida Department of Education. (2019a). Florida Principal Leadership Standards. https://www.fldoe.org/teaching/professional-dev/the-fl-ed-leadership-stards/
- Florida Department of Education. (2019b). *Professional development in Florida*. http://www.fldoe.org/teaching/professional-dev
- Garry, V. (2021). Roll call in data team meetings: Are principals present? Planning & Changing, 50(1/2), 75–93. http://education.illinoisstate.edu/planning/
- Gist, M. E., & Mitchell, T. B. (1992). Self-Efficacy: A Theoretical Analysis of Its

 Determinants and Malleability. *Academy of Management Review*, 17(2), 183–211.

 183–211. https://doi.org/10.2307/258770
- Glesne, C. (2010). Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction (4th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Goddard, R. D., Bailes, L. P., & Kim, M. (2021). Principal efficacy beliefs for instructional leadership and their relation to teachers' sense of collective efficacy and student achievement. *Leadership & Policy in Schools, 20*(3), 472–493. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Principal-Efficacy-Beliefs-for-Instructional-and-to-Goddard

 Bailes/06d82e7fe82cfdecc74bcffff51cea551c915e4b
- Gohl, D. F., & Leon, S. G. (2018). Broward County Public Schools Professional

 Learning System 2018–2019. chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/http://bcpsagenda.browardschools
 .com/agenda/01468/Item%20F-3%20(52674)/SUPP_DOCS/Exhibits/Doc3.pdf
- Grissom, J. A., Egalite, A. J., & Lindsay, C. A. (April 2021). What great principals really do. *Educational Leadership*, 78(7), 21–25.

- https://eric.ed.gov/?q=source%3a%22educational+leadership%22&ff1=dtysince_2019&ff2=subPrincipals&id=EJ1292971
- Gümüş, S., & Bellibaş, M. Ş. (2020). The relationship between professional development and school principals' leadership practices: the mediating role of self-efficacy. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *34*(7), 1155–1170. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-10-2019-0380
- Hamilton, L. S., Kaufman, J. H., & Diliberti, M. (2020).

 extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RRA100/RRA168-2/RAND_RRA168-2.pdf
- Hayes S. C., Ciarrochi, J., Hofmann, S. G., Chin, F., & Sahdra, B. (2022). Evolving an idionomic approach to processes of change: towards a unified personalized science of human improvement. *Behav. Res. Therapy*, 156, 104–155.
 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0005796722001267
- Henniger, M. L (2004). *The teaching experience: An introduction to reflective practice*. Pearson/Merrill/Prentice Hall.
- Hillman, S. (1986). Measuring self-efficacy: preliminary steps in the development of a multi-dimensional instrument.
 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED271505
- Hochbein, C., Mahone, A. & Vanderbeck, S. (2021), A systematic review of principal time use research, *Journal of Educational Administration*, *59*(2), 215–232 https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-09-2019-0163

- Hoque, K. E., & Raya, Z. T. (2023). Relationship between Principals' Leadership Styles and Teachers' Behavior. *Behavioral Sciences (Basel, Switzerland)*, *13*(2), 111. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs13020111
- Hornor, T., & Westberry, L. A. (2022). A comparison of principal and school counselor self-efficacy during the pandemic: Lessons to be learned, *Journal of Educational Leadership in Action:* 8(2,) Article 6.

 https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/ela/vol8/iss2/6
- Houchens, G. W., A. Stewart, T., & Jennings, S. (2017). Enhancing instructional leadership through collaborative coaching: a multi-case study. International *Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education, 6*(1), 34–49. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMCE-07-2016-0057
- Hudson Annual Report. (2020).
 - https://www.hudson.org/national-security-defense/2020-annual-report
- Individuals With Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-446 (2004).
- Justus, K., Arghode, V. & Barker, D. (2023), Principal self-efficacy, mindset and performance outcomes: Exploring the connection, *European Journal of Training* and Development, 47(5/6), 565–585. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-07-2021-0092
- Kim, T. (2020). Humanity meets accountability: Narratives from school leaders
 [Doctoral dissertation, Michigan State University]. ProQuest Dissertations &
 Theses A&I. http://lib- proxy.unl.edu/login?url=https://www-proquest-com.libproxy.unl.edu/docview/243405154 2?accountid=8116
- Kim, S. J. (2021). Merit pay, case-by-case: Variables affecting student achievement,

- teacher retention, and the problem of standardized tests. *Cogent Education*, 8(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2021.1920560
- Kim, T., & Lowery, C. (2021). Who Should Get "Ineffective"? A Principal's Ethical Dilemmas on Teacher Evaluation. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 24(2), 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458920976718
- Leedy, P., & Ormrod, J. (2019). *Practical research: Planning and design* (12th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Levin, S., Leung, M., Edgerton, A. K., & Scott, C. (2020). Elementary school principals' professional learning: Current status and future needs. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/elementary-school-principals-professional-learning-report
- Lochmiller, C. R., & Mancinelli, J. L. (2019). Principals' instructional leadership under statewide teacher evaluation reform. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 33(4), 629–643. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-06-2017-0151
- MacGillis, A. (June 19 2023). What can we do about pandemic-related-learning loss? https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2023/06/26/what-can-we-do-about-pandemic-related-learning-loss
- Mahoney, E. (2017). Examining the impact of professional development on elementary teacher and administrator self-efficacy [Doctoral dissertation]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (10280006)
- Manderlink, G., & Harackiewicz, J. M. (1984). Proximal versus distal goal setting and intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 47, 918–928. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.47.4.918

- https://www.palmbeachpost.com/story/news/education/2018/04/06/school-safety-efforts-are-underway/6816046007/
- Marzano, R. J. (2013). Art and science of teaching: How to show student learning.

 *Educational Leadership, 71(2), 82–83. http://www.ascd.org

 /publications/educational-leadership/oct13/vol71/num02/How-to-Show-Student

 -Learning.aspx
- Marzano Center. (2019). School leader evaluation. https://www.marzanocenter.com/evaluation-systems/school-leader-evaluation/
- McBrayer, J. S., Jackson, T., Pannell, S. S, Sorgen, C. H., DeBlume, A. P. G., & Melron,
 T. D. (2018). Balance of instructional and managerial tasks as it relates to school leaders' self-efficacy. *Journal of School Leadership*, 28(5), 596–617.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461802800502
- Memela, G. K. S., & Ramrathan, L. (2022). The perspective of school leadership and management: The role of the school principal in academic learner performance. *South African Journal of Education, 42*(2). chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://sajournalofeducation.co.za/index.php/saje/article/viewFile/2071/1181
- Mendoza, A., Jones, D., Varela, D., & Challoo, L. (2022). Teachers' and principals'
 perceptions of factors that contribute to the success of Blue-Ribbon
 Schools. *Administrative Issues Journal: Education, Practice & Research, 12*(2),
 13–30. chrome-

- extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ 1365418.pdf
- Murphy, I. P. (2021). What's My Role? (Part 1): Principals share their leadership responsibilities with APs according to district demands, school needs, career goals, and personal strengths. *Principal*, 101(1), 36–39. https://www.naesp.org/resource/whats-my-role-part-1/
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform.* Washington, DC: Government Printing Office
- New Leaders. (2019). *Prioritizing leadership: New Leaders federal policy platform*. https://gtlcenter.org/products-resources/prioritizing-leadership
 -new-leaders-federal-policy-platform
- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-110 (2002).
- Noman, M. & Gurr, D. (2020) Contextual Leadership and Culture in Education, In G.W.

 Nobit (Ed.) Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education (New York, New York:

 Oxford University Press) 20p. On-line publication date, Feb, 2020.

 dx.doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190264093.013.595
- O'Hara, L., & Higgins, K. (2019). Participant photography as a research tool: Ethical issues and practical implementation. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 48(2), 369–399. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1212200
- Overmars, M. T., Thomése, F., & Moonen, X. (2018). Photovoice in research involving people with intellectual disabilities: A guided Photovoice approach as an alternative. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 31(1), e92–e104. doi:10.1111/jar.12329

- Padgett, D. K. (2017). Qualitative methods in social work research (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Pajares, F. (2009). Toward a positive psychology of academic motivation: The role of self-efficacy beliefs. In R. Gilman, E. S. Huebner, & M. J. Furlong (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology in schools* (pp. 149–60). Taylor & Francis.
- Pariente, N., & Tubin, D. (2021). Novice principal mentoring and professional development. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 10(3), 370–386. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMCE-01-2021-0015
- Pollock, K., & Briscoe, P. (2020). School principals' understandings of student difference and diversity and how these understandings influence their work. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *34*(3), 518–534. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-07-2019-0243
- Postma, K. L. (2019). The Influence of Self-Efficacy on Job Satisfaction in New Jersey

 Public School Principals [Doctoral dissertation, Seton Hall University].

 chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://scholarship.shu.edu/cgi/vie
 wcontent.cgi?article=3734&context=dissertations.
- Redmond, B. (2010). Self-efficacy theory: Do I think that I can succeed in my work?

 Work attitudes and motivation. New York: The Pennsylvania State University

 World Campus.
- Reid, D. B. (2020). Making sense of teacher evaluation policies and systems based on principals' experience. *Leadership & Policy in Schools, 19*(2), 304–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2018.1554158
- Rice, L. G., & Williams, R. G. (2022). Who's taking care of the principal: A wellness

- approach for school principal self-care. *Journal of School Leadership, 32*(6), 567–585. https://doi.org/10.1177/10526846221133994
- Rich, M. (2013, July 19). Education proposal in House could replace 'No Child' act. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2013/07/19/us/politics/education-proposal-in-house-could-replace-no-child-act.html
- Rochester, S. E., & Sanders, M. G. (2023). Responding to the needs of the whole child:

 Principals' reports of non-instructional investments during COVID-19. *Journal of School Leadership*, *33*(5), 434-451.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/10526846221133993
- Sabuncuoğlu, A., & Beytekin, 0. F. (2022). Analysis of school principals' practices regarding their occupational health and safety liabilities. *E-International Journal of Educational Research*, *13*(2), 39-56.

 DOI: https://doi.org/10.19160/e-ijer.1049927
- Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Schildkraut, J. (2021). Can mass shootings be stopped? To address the problem, we must better understand the phenomenon. Albany, NY: Regional Gun Violence Research Consortium. https://rockinst.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Public-Mass-Shootings-Brief.pdf.
- Schrik, P., & Wasonga, T. A. (2019). The role of a school leader in academic outcomes:

 Between self-efficacy and outcome expectations. *Athens Journal of Education*.

 https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/The-Role-of-a-School-Leader-in-Academic-Outcomes%3A-SchrikWasonga/1a05927d2213804ac3bf779c3cfb482c1cf047ab

- Shaked, H. (2022). Role identity of instructional leaders. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 21(2), 398–411. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2020.1770805
- Sidibe, T., Turner, K., Sparks, A., Woods-Jaeger, B., & Lightfoot, A. (2018). "You still got to see where she's coming from": Using Photovoice to understand African American female adolescents' perspectives on sexual risk. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 38(1), 12–27.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=how+to+make+students+be+positive+to+class&pg=550&i
 - https://eric.ed.gov/'?q=how+to+make+students+be+positive+to+class&pg=550&id=EJ1161102
- Simmonds, S., Roux, C., & Avest, I. (2015). Blurring the boundaries between

 Photovoice and Narrative Inquiry: A narrative-Photovoice methodology for
 gender-based research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 14*(3), 33–
 49. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691501400303
- Sider, S., Maich, K., & Morvan, J. (2017). School principals and students with special education needs: Leading inclusive schools. *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue Canadienne de l'éducation, 40*(2), 1–31.

 https://journals.sfu.ca/cje/index.php/cje-rce/article/view/2417
- Skaalvik, C. (2020). Self-efficacy for instructional leadership: Relations with perceived job demands and job resources, emotional exhaustion, job satisfaction, and motivation to quit. *Social Psychology of Education*, *23*(5), 1343–1366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-020-09585-9
- Smith, W. C., & Kubacka, K. (2017). The emphasis of student test scores in teacher appraisal systems. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, *25*, Article 86. doi:10.14507/epaa.25.2889

- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage.
- Stanford, L. (2023). Educators feel growing pressure for students To perform well on standardized tests. *Education Week, 43*(6), 14.

 https://www-edweek-org.libproxy.smith.edu/teaching-learning/educators-feel-growing-pressure-for-students-to-perform-well-on-standardized-tests/2023/09
- Sun, A. Q., & Xin, J. F. (2020). School principals' opinions about special education services. *Preventing School Failure*, 64(2), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2019.1681354
- Superville, D. R. (2018, October 17). "I Want a Job and a Life": How principals find balance in all-consuming work. *Education Week, 38*(09), 8. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/i-want-a-job-and-a-life-how-principals-find-balance-in-all-consuming-work/2018/10
- Thomas-EL, S., Jones, J., & Vari., T. J. (2020). Passionate leadership: Creating a culture of success in every school. Corwin. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781071800911
- Tuytens, M., & Devos, G. (2017). Teacher evaluation policy as perceived by school principals: The case of Flanders (Belgium). *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice, 24*, 1–14.
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320825118_Teacher_evaluation_policy
 _as_perceived_by_school_principals_the_case_of_Flanders_Belgium
- U.S. Department of Education. (2002). No Child Left Behind: A desktop reference. chrome
 - extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.naswct.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/NoChildLeftBehind.pdf.

- U.S. Department of Education. (2012). *Race to the Top. Florida Report. Year 1: School Year 2010–2011*.
 - https://eric.ed.gov/?q=The+Teacher+Keys+Effectiveness+System+consists+of+multiple+components+which+contribute+to+an+overall+Teacher+Effectiveness+Multiple+components+which+contribute+to+an+overall+Teacher+Effectiveness+Multiple+Components+include+Teacher+Assessment+on+Performaunce+Standards+(TAPS)%2C+Surveys+of+Instructional+Practice%2C+and+Studulent+Growth+and+Academic+Achievemen&ff1=lawAmerican+Recovery+and+Reinvestment+Act+2009&ff2=subBudgets&ff3=subModels&id=ED529312
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). Fortieth annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
 Washington, DC: Author. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED594658
- Versland, T. M., & Erickson, J. L. (2017). Leading by example: A case study of the influence of principal self-efficacy on collective efficacy. *Cogent Education*, 4(1), Article 1286765. doi:10.1080/2331186X.2017.1286765
- Viloria, M. de L. (2019). Culturally responsive leadership practices: a principal's reflection. *Journal of Latinos & Education*, 18(2), 171–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2017.1371604
- Wang, F., Pollock, K., & Hauseman, C. (2023). Time demands and emotionally draining situations amid work intensification of school principals. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 59(1), 112–142.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X221132837
- Wahab, S. N. B. A., Mordiffi, S. Z., Ang, E., & Lopez, V. (2017). Light at the end of the tunnel: New graduate nurses' accounts of resilience: A qualitative study using

- Photovoice. Nurse Education Today, 52, 43–49. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.02.007
- Wallace, L. (2015). Reflexive photography, attitudes, behavior, and CALL: ITAs improving spoken English intelligibility. *CALICO Journal*, *32*, 449–479. https://www.jstor.org/stable/calicojournal.32.3.449
- Westberry, L., & Horner, T. (2022). Best practices in principal professional development. *AASA Journal of Scholarship & Practice, 19*(1), 29. chrome
 - extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.aasa.org/docs/default -source/publications/journal-of-scholarship-and-practice/2022-jsp/best-practices-in-principal-professional-development--jsp_spring2022.pdf?sfvrsn=15831be6_3
- Westberry, L., Hornor, T., & Murray, K. (2021). The needs of the virtual principal amid the pandemic. *International Journal of Education Policy* & *Leadership*, 17(10), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2021v17n10a1139
- White, K. M., Hunter, W., Green, R. L., & Mueller, C. E. (2021). Principals' attitudes toward the inclusion of students with exceptionalities in the general education classroom. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, *34*(2), 72–81. https://digitalcommons.memphis.edu/facpubs/10349/
- White House. (2014). *Educate to Innovate*. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/issues/education/k-12/educate-innovate
- Wieczorek, D., Clark, B., & Theoharis, G. (2019). Principals' instructional feedback practices during race to the top. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 18(3), 357–381. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2017.1398336
- Wood, R. E., Bandura, A., & Bailey, T. (1990). Mechanisms governing organizational

performance in complex decision-making environments. *Organizational Behavior* and Human Decision Processes, 46, 181–201.

doi:10.1016/0749-5978(90)90028-8

Wright, J. G., Hallam, P. R., & Bowles, W. B. (2023). Learning-centered leadership:
Exploring how distinguished learning-centered principals apply key processes of learning-centered leadership. *NASSP Bulletin*, 107(2), 93–119.
https://doi.org/10.1177/01926365231179967

Yell, M. L. (2006). The law and special education (2nd ed.). Pearson Education.

Yin, R. (2003). Applications of case study research (2nd ed.). Sage.

Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Sage.

Young, L. B. (2017). Photovoice participatory action research for the communication classroom. *Communication Teacher*, *31*, 226-230. doi:10.1080/17404622.2017 .1358381

Appendix A

Table of Specifications

Table of Specifications

Research Questions How do 1. elementary school 2. How have principals in elementary 3. How do a large principals in a elementary southeastern principals in a large school southeastern large southeastern 4. How have the district perceive their school district school district lived adapted their view the influence experiences of capabilities leadership style of professional these elementary and level of to align with training and principals self-efficacy performance professional contributed to for their requirements for relationships on their perceived position of their level of selftheir roles and level of selfschool responsibilities? efficacy? efficacy? principal?

Interview Question

Section 1: Introduction and Preliminary Information

1. What is your highest Χ level of education? 2. How long have you been X a principal? X 3. Describe the trajectory of your career experiences before becoming an elementary school principal. Χ 4. What was it that made you want to become a principal? X 5. What capabilities and skills did you feel you possessed that qualified you for the role of elementary principal?

Section 2: Self-Efficacy in the Role of Elementary Principal

6. As a school principal, do you regard your role primarily as an administrator or an instructional leader?

X

	Research Questions	
	elementary school principals in 2. How have a large elementary 3. How do southeastern principals in a school large principals in a district southeastern perceive their school district capabilities adapted their capabilities adapted their self-efficacy to align with for their performance position of requirements for school their roles and principal? responsibilities? 1. How do elementary 3. How do elementary school self-ementary school district school district lived view the influence experiences of professional these elements for relationships on their perceiver their perceiver their performance professional contributed to their roles and their level of self-level of self- principal? responsibilities? efficacy?	of cary
7. How do you define/describe your role as an administrator? What is your level of efficacy for performing this role?	X	
8. How do you define/describe your role as an instructional leader? What is your level of efficacy for performing this role?	X	
9. How do you view your role as data analyst/manager?	X	
10. In your efforts to create and sustain a positive level of teacher/staff morale, how do you maintain a positive outlook and sense of efficacy?	X	
Section 3: Influences of 11. What type of preparatory training did the school district provide you for your job as a principal?	Professional Development and Training Programs on Self-Efficacy X	

	Research Questions									
	1.	How do elementary school principals in a large southeastern school district perceive their capabilities and level of self-efficacy for their position of school principal?	2. How have elementary principals in a large southeastern school district adapted their leadership style to align with performance requirements for their roles and responsibilities?	3. How do elementary principals in a large southeastern school district view the influence of professional training and professional relationships on their level of self-efficacy?	lived					
12. Do you feel this training was sufficient preparation for what the role actually required? Please explain what aspects of the training you feel were adequate and what aspects you believe may be enhanced in some way.				X						
13. What kind of ongoing support is available once a principal is appointed? How long is this support system in place?				X						
14. Describe how your leadership experience would have differed without this support.				X						
15. What type of professional development were you required to complete in preparation for conducting teacher evaluations?				X						
16. How confident are you with evaluating teachers based on this of training knowing their salary and retention are determined, in large part, by your evaluation?				X						

Research Questions 1. How do elementary school principals in 2. How have elementary 3. How do a large principals in a elementary southeastern principals in a large school large southeastern 4. How have the southeastern district perceive their school district school district lived adapted their view the influence experiences of capabilities leadership style of professional these elementary and level of to align with training and principals self-efficacy contributed to performance professional for their requirements for relationships on their perceived position of their roles and their level of selflevel of selfschool responsibilities? efficacy? efficacy? principal? X 17. How have professional development and ongoing support programs such as mentorship helped to shape your efficacy beliefs? Section 4: How Lived Experiences Shape Efficacy Beliefs 18. How have prior Χ personal and professional experiences helped to shape your efficacy beliefs as an educational leader? 19. How would you X describe your leadership style and the methods you use to influence your staff, students, and the community you serve? 20. Please describe your X greatest challenge and your greatest accomplishment as a principal thus far. How have these experiences strengthened or diminished your belief in your capabilities and your resolve to perform?

-			Research Q	uestions	
	1.	How do elementary school principals in a large southeastern school district perceive their capabilities and level of self-efficacy for their position of school principal?	2. How have elementary principals in a large southeastern school district adapted their leadership style to align with performance requirements for their roles and responsibilities?	3. How do elementary principals in a large southeastern school district view the influence of professional training and professional relationships on their level of self-efficacy?	4. How have the lived experiences of these elementary principals contributed to their perceived level of self-efficacy?
21. As a principal you play a number of important roles as you must complete the many tasks that are required of you, such as building supervisor, data manager, and community liaison, just to name a few. In which of your leadership roles do you feel most confident? Why?					X
22. What strategies have you developed to help you deal with the competing demands of your various roles?					X
23. What do you believe is the one thing that would empower you most to perform at your most efficient level?					X

Appendix B

Interview Protocol for Principals

Interview Protocol for Principals

Project: Explore the awareness, perception, and importance of self-efficacy in the role of educational leadership and practice in a large southeastern school district. Time of interview: 2-hour interview

Date: _____ Place: ____ Interviewer: Barbara J. Hall Position: Doctoral Student

Project description: This is a project that is designed to explore the lived experiences of elementary principals regarding their efficacy beliefs and practices as they strive to fulfill the rigorous demands of administration and instructional leadership in their role as an elementary school principal in a large southeastern school district.

Interviewee: _____

Thank you so much for taking time out of your busy schedule to meet with me. My name is Barbara Hall, and I am a doctoral candidate at Nova Southeastern University. I created this research project to satisfy the requirements for a Doctor of Education degree. The purpose of this study is to engage with educational leaders to develop a better understanding of who you are and your sense of efficacy regarding the roles that you play, and to describe the lived experiences of elementary principals in a large southeastern school district. In the face of increasing educator accountability amid public scrutiny, self-efficacy is an even more relevant consideration for success as an educational leader.

Please know that this interview is in no way designed to critique your performance as a principal. The objective is to get to know a little about you as a person and a professional and to get your perspective on some subject areas that relate to the topic of the study. It is perfectly normal to feel nervous or to even become a bit uncomfortable with certain questions. If you become uncomfortable at any time or need a break for any reason, please do not hesitate to let me know. I will stop the interview and do everything I can to accommodate your needs.

The interview process will be as follows:

- To begin, we will discuss the meaning of the terms *efficacy* and *self-efficacy* to help you understand the relevance of these concepts to you as a person and an educational leader. It is also important to ensure you understand the relevance of these terms to the study.
- The interview questions will be divided into four categories based on the research questions listed in the study: Section 1, Introduction and Preliminary Information; Section 2, Self- Efficacy Practices in the Role of Elementary Principal; Section 3, Influences of Professional Development and Training Programs on Self-Efficacy; and Section 4, How Lived Experiences Shape Efficacy Beliefs.
- You will be given a brief introduction to each section before any questions in that

section are asked. Please stop me at any time if you do not understand the question or need clarification.

I can repeat or rephrase the question and provide additional information whenever you need me to.

Section 1: Introduction and Preliminary Information

- 1. What is your highest level of education?
- 2. How long have you been a principal?
- 3. Describe the trajectory of your career experiences before becoming an elementary school principal.
- 4. What was it that made you want to become a principal?

Section 2: Self- Efficacy Practices in the Role of Elementary Principal

- 5. What capabilities and skills did you feel you possessed that qualified you for the role of elementary principal?
- 6. As a school principal, do you regard your role primarily as an administrator or an instructional leader?
- 7. How do you define/describe your role as an administrator? What is your level of efficacy for performing this role?
- 8. How do you define/describe your role as an instructional leader? What is your level of efficacy for performing this role?
- 9. How do you view your role as data analyst/manager?
- 10. In your efforts to create and sustain a positive level of teacher/staff morale, how do you maintain a positive outlook and sense of efficacy?

Section 3: Influences of Professional Development and Training Programs on Self-Efficacy

- 11. What type of preparatory training did the school district provide you for your job as a principal?
- 12. Do you feel this training was sufficient preparation for what the role actually required? Please explain what aspects of the training you feel were adequate and what aspects you believe may be enhanced in some way.
- 13. What kind of ongoing support is available once a principal is appointed? How long is this support system in place?
- 14. Describe how your leadership experience would have differed without this support.
- 15. What type of professional development were you required to complete in preparation? For conducting teacher evaluations?
- 16. How confident are you with evaluating teachers based on this of training—knowing their salary and retention are determined, in large part, by your evaluation?
- 17. How have professional development and ongoing support programs such as mentorship helped to shape your efficacy beliefs?

Section 4: How Lived Experiences Shape Efficacy Beliefs

- 18. How have prior personal and professional experiences helped to shape your efficacy beliefs as an educational leader?
- 19. How would you describe your leadership style and the methods you use to influence your staff, students, and the community you serve?
- 20. Please describe your greatest challenge and your greatest accomplishment as a principal thus far. How have these experiences strengthened or diminished your belief in your capabilities and your resolve to perform?
- 21. As a principal you play a number of important roles as you must complete the many tasks that are required of you such as building supervisor, data manager, and community liaison, just to name a few. In which of your leadership roles do you feel most confident? Why?
- 22. What strategies have you developed to help you deal with the competing demands of your various roles?
- 23. What do you believe is the one thing that would empower you most to perform at your most efficient level?

Appendix C

Photovoice Protocol for Principals

Photovoice Protocol for Principals

Project: Developing a better understanding of the perceived self-efficacy of elementary principals regarding their roles and responsibilities in a large southeastern school district through participant-generated photographs.

Photo collection time frame: 5 days (Monday through Friday)

Γime of photo-elicited interview: 2-hour interview
Date:
Place:
Interviewer: Barbara J. Hall
Position: Doctoral Student
Project description: This is a project that is designed to explore the lived experiences of elementary principals regarding their efficacy beliefs and practices as they strive to fulfil the rigorous demands of administration and instructional leadership in a large southeastern school district.
Participant:
My name is Barbara Hall, and I am a doctoral candidate at Nova Southeastern University I created this research project to satisfy the requirements for a Doctor of Education

My name is Barbara Hall, and I am a doctoral candidate at Nova Southeastern University. I created this research project to satisfy the requirements for a Doctor of Education degree. The purpose of this study is to engage with leaders such as yourself to hear your voices and develop a better understanding of who you are and your sense of self in the very important roles you play and to describe these experiences of elementary principals in a large southeastern school district. In the face of increasing educator accountability amid public scrutiny, self-efficacy is more than ever before a very relevant consideration for the educational leadership skill set.

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this second part of the research project. This part of the project is designed for you to share aspects of your experience as a principal as it relates to your efficacy beliefs and practice. This will be accomplished through photography and journalism in what the writer will refer to as an individual *photo journal*.

You will create your Photovoice project in the following manner:

You will be given a 35-millimeter Fujifilm 400 disposable camera with 12 exposures and a notebook. Both items have been labeled with a number that distinguishes you from other participants. Please do not remove or modify these labels in any way.

For one academic week (Monday through Friday), please use your disposable camera to

capture any images (other than students, employees, and any human subjects) that you believe are reflective of your efficacy beliefs, and factors that influence (or have influenced) your self-efficacy as you perform your tasks as an elementary principal. These images can include places, objects, and situations that represent challenges, triumphs, fears, strengths, and any other aspect of your professional experience that you would like to illustrate for the researcher.

To fully capture the essence of what your photographs are saying, the writer would like you to maintain a journal that will be written in conjunction with your photography. Here is how it will work:

Your disposable camera contains 12 exposures. In the notebook you were provided, you will write an entry for each photograph you take. When you decide on an image to photograph, it is imperative that you note the exposure number and subject of the photograph in your journal right away. Additionally, take a moment to reflect on the subject of the photograph. Please write to share why you chose to capture it on film and what aspect of your personal experience as a leader each image represented. When completed, your journal should contain 12 descriptions, one for each image in your disposable camera.

On the Monday following the last day of your photo journal week, I will come to your school site in person to collect your disposable camera and journal. Please place both the camera and journal in the manila envelope you will be provided at the time of your interview. If at any time before beginning this venture or during the week you need assistance of any kind, please do not hesitate to give me a call on my personal number.

Once the photographs have been developed, we will schedule a time to talk about the photographs and what they mean to you. This conversation will be recorded for accuracy in the same way the interview was recorded. After I complete my analysis of the photographs and the information you share about their meaning, I will create a narrative interpretation of the results. I will e-mail a copy of this report to you. I would like you to read it and give me your feedback. Your input is very important as the aim of the study is to tell *your* story as authentically as possible.

Again, please feel free to contact me at any time if you should have any questions or concerns. Thank you for your participation in this important project.

Appendix D

Introductory E-Mail and Informed Consent

Introductory E-Mail and Informed Consent

Му	name	is	Barbar	а На	ıll, a	and]	I am a	a c	doctora	al	cand	idat	e at	Nova	Sc	outheastern	
тт.	• • .	•	A 1	ъ.	1 1	\sim	11		CT 1			ъ		1	1. 1	1 .	1 .

University's Adam Fischler College of Education. Doctoral candidates are required to design and conduct a research study that will enable them to add to the existing body of knowledge on the topic of their study.

You are receiving this letter as a personal invitation to participate in a study about elementary school principals: *Instructional Leadership and Self-Efficacy: A Case Study About Elementary School Principals*. As the primary investigator, I would like to engage with elementary principals in your school district for the purpose of developing a better understanding of how their perceived self-efficacy is shaped by their lived experiences as well as professional support and training. Because of the highly critical roles principals play in today's academic arena, I believe that self-efficacy, or the way one views his or her ability to perform within a specific context, is a subject that is relevant and worthy of investigation. However, the existing literature has little to offer on the subject, especially from the perspective of elementary principals.

This case study project is not designed to critique your performance as a principal in any way. The aim of the study is to better understand your lived experience as an educational leader and share a perspective from the principal's side of the desk. It is my hope that because of you and other principals sharing your insight and experiences, the results of this study may be used to help develop and enhance principal preparation programs, professional support, and effect positive change for future educational policy.

Attached you will find a form that provides detailed information about the study and what will be expected if you elect to participate. Please be assured that the proposed study has met the approval of the rigorous evaluation standards of the Internal Review Boards of Nova Southeastern University and The Broward County School District's Internal Review Board. If you are interested in participating on the study, you may provide your consent by completing the information on the final page of the attached document and returning it to me at bh805@mynsu.novs.edu.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Warmest Regards,

Dear

Barbara J. Hall, M.S.

Informed Consent

General Informed Consent Form NSU Consent to be in a Research Study Entitled

Instructional Leadership and Self-Efficacy: A Case Study About Elementary School Principals

Who is doing this research study?

College: Adam Fischler School of Education

Principal Investigator: Barbara Jean Hall, A.A, B.S., M.S. 2201 N 57 Terrace Hollywood, Fl. 33021 954-274-2093

Faculty Advisor/Dissertation Chair: Dr. Mary Clisbee, Ed. D c/o Fischler College of Education 3301 College Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida, 33314 954-262-5369

Site Information: Wilton Manors Elementary School 2401 NE 3 Avenue, Wilton Manors, Florida. 33305

Funding: Unfunded

What is this study about?

This is a research study, designed to explore the lived experiences of elementary principals. The purpose of this research study is to better understand elementary principals' self-efficacy, or personal belief in their ability carry out the roles and responsibilities ascribed to them as educational leaders. The researcher believes it is important to understand the position of elementary principals and what contributes to their self-efficacy. This understanding can lead to the creation/improvement of effective principal preparation programs as well as help to shape more effective and supportive educational policy.

Why are you asking me to be in this research study?

You are being asked to participate in this research study because you are the principal of an elementary school in Broward County.

This study will include about six people. It is expected that all six participants will be from this school district.

What will I be doing if I agree to be in this research study?

While you are taking part in this research study, the researcher will interview you to learn about your experiences as a principal. You will also be given a disposable camera to take pictures of things in your work environment that your feel is relative to your experiences as a principal. The researcher will review the photographs with you to discuss their meaning. We will meet twice for: 1) A face-to-face interview, and 2) Reviewing and discussing your photographs. Each session will last about two hours. Other communication will be done via email. However, if you would like additional time to personally meet with the researcher for any reason, an additional meeting can be arranged.

Research Study Procedures - as a participant, this is what you will be doing:

- You will be provided a copy of the interview questions for your review. After an
 initial interview has been scheduled, you will meet with the researcher to answer
 the interview questions. The interview will be audiotaped to ensure accuracy
 during transcription.
- After the first interview, you will participate in the second part of the study using a method called *Photovoice*. You will be given a disposable camera, a notebook for recording photo captions and any thoughts about the images you capture, and an envelope in which to place all these items. You will be asked to use the camera to take pictures of anything relevant to your role as a principal for one week, Monday through Friday. The researcher will schedule a time to retrieve the materials directly from you (A Photovoice protocol will provide specific instructions for how this is to be done).
- Once the film is developed the researcher will meet with you for the second interview to review and discuss the photos and what they symbolize to you. This interview will also be audiotaped for accuracy.
- After the data has been analyzed, the researcher will send you a copy of the preliminary findings. At this time, you will be asked to give your input on the narrative. The researcher will provide all participants a copy of the final report.

Could I be removed from the study early by the research team?

There are several reasons why the researchers may need to remove you from the study early. Some reasons are: If you are no longer a principal, or are no longer employed by Broward County School Board, or fail to meet participation requirements such as being present for interviews.

Are there possible risks and discomforts to me?

This research study involves minimal risk to you. To the best of our knowledge, the things you will be doing have no more risk of harm than you would have in everyday life.

What happens if I do not want to be in this research study?

You have the right to leave this research study at any time or refuse to be in it. If you decide to leave or you do not want to be in the study anymore, you will not be penalized in any way. If you choose to stop being in the study before it is over, any information about you that was collected **before** the date you leave the study will be kept in the research records for 36 months from the end of the study and may be used as a part of the research.

What if there is new information learned during the study that may affect my decision to remain in the study?

If significant new information relating to the study becomes available, which may relate to whether you want to remain in this study, this information will be given to you by the investigator. You may be asked to sign a new Informed Consent Form if the information is given to you after you have joined the study.

Will I be paid or be given compensation for being in the study?

You will not be given any payments or compensation for being in this research study.

Will it cost me anything?

There are no costs to you for being in this research study. All the materials you need for participation in the study will be provided to you by the researcher.

How will you keep my information private?

Information we learn about you in this research study will be handled in a confidential manner, within the limits of the law and will be limited to people who have a need to review this information. Each participant will be assigned a pseudonym that will be associated with all their data. All data collected will be kept securely on a password-protected laptop and iPad. All photographs, logs, and notes will be kept in a locked file cabinet in the researcher's home office.

Data will only be available to the researcher, the Institutional Review Board and other representatives of this institution, and any regulatory agencies (if applicable). If we publish the results of the study in a scientific journal or book, we will not identify you. All data will be kept for 36 months and destroyed after that time by permanent deletion all digital of files and the shredding of all photo images, field notes, transcripts, and any other printed documents.

Will there be any Audio or Video Recording?

This research study involves audio recording. This recording will be available to the researcher, the Institutional Review Board, and other representatives of this institution. The recording will be kept, stored, and destroyed as stated in the section above. Because what is in the recording could be used to find out that it is you, it is not possible to be sure that the recording will always be kept confidential. The researcher will try to keep anyone not working on the research from listening to the recording.

Whom can I contact if I have questions, concerns, comments, or complaints?

If you have questions now, feel free to ask us. If you have more questions about the research, or your research rights, please contact:

Primary contact: Jennifer Reeves, Ph. D, 850-727-8994

Research Participants Rights

For questions/concerns regarding your research rights, please contact:

Institutional Review Board Nova Southeastern University (954) 262-5369 / Toll Free: 1-866-499-0790 IRB@nova.edu

You may also visit the NSU IRB website at www.nova.edu/irb/information-for-research-participants for further information regarding your rights as a research participant.

Research Consent & Authorization Signature Section

<u>Voluntary Participation</u> - You are not required to participate in this study. In the event you do participate, you may leave this research study at any time. If you leave this research study before it is completed, there will be no penalty to you, and you will not lose any benefits to which you are entitled.

If you agree to participate in this research study, sign this section. You will be given a signed copy of this form to keep. You do not waive any of your legal rights by signing this form.

SIGN THIS FORM ONLY IF THE STATEMENTS LISTED BELOW ARE TRUE:

- You have read the above information.
- Your questions have been answered to your satisfaction about the research.

Adult Signature Section								
I have voluntarily decided to take part in this research study.								
Printed Name of Participant	Signature of Participant	Date						
Drinted Name of Dayson Obtaining	Circumstance of Dansey Obtaining Consent 9	Dete						
Printed Name of Person Obtaining Consent and Authorization	Signature of Person Obtaining Consent & Authorization	Date						

Appendix E

Photovoice Data Analysis Charts

Photovoice Data Analysis Charts



